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I. INTRODUCTION 1

1. This Brief addresses the Court's request for further submissions regarding:

(a) the commentary in the most recent edition of Bennett on Bankruptcy addressing 

the BIA definition of "insolvent person" and the balance sheet test for insolvency;2

(b) deferred taxes, commitments, and the presentation of balance sheets, and their 

relevance to insolvency; and

(c) the Trust Indenture3 and the trust relationship between PEOC and POT.

II. SUBMISSIONS

A. The Insolvency Test: Bennett on Bankruptcy

2. Bennett on Bankrupts commentary on the definition of "insolvent person" and the 

"balance sheet or liquidation test" states:

And factor (c), "property if sold at a fair valuation would not be sufficient 
to pay his or her debts", refers to a net worth statement where the creditor 
needs to establish that the debtor does not have sufficient assets, if 
liquidated at fair market value, to satisfy the debts. This is often referred 
to as the "balance sheet or liquidation" test. In calculating the debtor's net 
worth, one has to include obligations currently payable and one does not
have to include claims accruing due.4 5

3. In the footnote, the author cites Enterprise and Royai Bank} The footnote also refers to 

Ste/co for the proposition that "if the debtor is facing a liquidity crisis, the court will take that 

factor into consideration where debts are payable at some future date".6

1 This Brief uses the defined terms in PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. v Perpetual Energy Inc., 2020 ABQB 6 
(the Reasons) [Perpetual Energy Defendants' Brief filed July 8, 2020 (Perpetual Brief), Tab 1].
2 Frank Bennett, Bennett on Bankruptcy, 22nd ed (Toronto, ON; LexisNexis Canada Inc. 2020) (Bennett) 
at p 47-49 [Tab 1],
3 Including the First Amended and Restated Trust Indenture dated August 1, 2002, the First Supplemental 
Trust Indenture dated June 30, 2010, and the Second Supplemental Trust Indenture dated February 28, 
2013 (collectively, the Trust Indenture): Affidavit of Sheena Criece sworn October 6, 2020 (Criece 
Affidavit) at Exhibit A.
4 Bennett at p 48-49 (emphasis added) [Tab 1].
5 Bennett at p 49, note 31 [Tab 1]; Enterprise Capital Management Inc v Semi-Tech Corp, [1999] OJ No 
5865 (Enterprise) [Perpetual Energy Defendants' Brief in Response to Intervenors' Briefs filed 
September 28, 2020 (Perpetual Response Brief), Tab 3]; Royai Bank of Canada v Oxford Medical 
Imaging Inc, 2019 ONSC 1020 {RoyalBank) [Perpetual Response Brief, Tab 2].
6 Re Ste/co Inc., [2004] OJ No 1257 (Ste/co) [Brief of the Trustee filed July 17, 2020 (Trustee Brief), 
Tab 24].



2

4. Enterprise and Ste/co represent two lines of authorities on the meaning of "accruing due" 

for the purposes of the balance sheet test for insolvency.7 In Enterprise, Ground J. held that the 

only obligations that should be considered in that analysis are those "currently payable or 

chargeable".8 In Ste/co, Farley J. took a much broader view of "accruing due" for the purposes of 

determining insolvency in the CCAA context, concluding that"every obiigatior!' must be treated 

as accruing due.9

5. Farley J. reasoned that since the CCAA is focussed on rehabilitating struggling companies, 

courts should take a longer-term view of their debts and obligations.10 This reasoning makes 

sense. When the Court determines insolvency under the CCAA, it is deciding whether the company 

should be allowed to avail itself of CCAA protections. The goal is for the company to emerge 

healthier and poised to continue as a going concern in the long term, taking into account all of 

its present and future obligations. Denying CCAA protection because a company is not an 

"insolvent person" under the BIA would undermine those objectives because it would prevent 

financially-troubled companies from engaging the CCAA until it is too late. As Farley J. explained: 

"CCAA should not be the last gasp of a dying company; it should be implemented, if it is to be 

implemented, at a stage prior to the death throe."11

6. This reasoning does not apply to the BIA, which is why Canadian courts have continued 

to follow Enterprise in the context of the BIA and other statutes with a "liquidation history and 

focus".12 When the Court determines insolvency under the BIA, the Court is deciding whether the 

company is at a point of no return. If it is, the consequences are significant: the debtor's estate 

is vested in the trustee and distributed to creditors and the trustee is granted extraordinary rights 

and remedies. While an expanded meaning of "insolvent person" may be appropriate in the CCAA

7 BIA at s. 2, "insolvent person" [Perpetual Brief, Tab 3].
8 Enterprise at para 17 (emphasis added) [Perpetual Response Brief, Tab 3].
9 Ste/co at para 59 (emphasis in original) [Trustee Brief, Tab 24].
10 Ste/co at paras 11-20, 24-25 [Trustee Brief, Tab 24]. For example, Farley J. explained that: (a) the 
"basic interest of the CCAA is to rehabilitate insolvent corporations for the benefit of all stakeholders"; (b) 
"[t]o do this, the cause(s) of the insolvency must be fixed on a long term viable basis so that the corporation 
may be turned around"; and (c) "given the time and steps involved in a reorganization, and the condition 
of insolvency perforce requires an expanded meaning under the CCAA".
11 Ste/co at para 13, quoting Farley J.'s earlier decision in Re Inducon Development Corp (1991), 8 CBR 
(3d) 306 (Ont Gen Div) (not reproduced) [Trustee Brief, Tab 24].
12 See for example: Royal Bank at para 39 [Perpetual Response Brief, Tab 2]; Canada (Attorney 
General) v Reliance Insurance Co, [2008] OJ No 795 (Ont SCO) at para 35 [Perpetual Response Brief, 
Tab 4]; Re Industries Cover Inc (Syndic), 2015 QCCS 136 at paras 409-428 [Perpetual Response Brief, 
Tab 5].
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context, it should not be applied to the BIA. As previously submitted, the Enterprise line of 

authorities should be preferred to Ste/co in this case. The discussion in Bennett on Bankruptcy 

supports that conclusion.

7. Sequoia was not facing a "liquidity crisis" at the time of or, for over a year following, the 

Asset Transaction (October 1, 2016). In fact, the evidence is to the contrary. At the time of the 

Asset Transaction, all Goodyear Asset obligations incurred up to closing were paid and accounted 

for, as shown on the statement of adjustments scheduled to the Share Purchase Agreement.13 

And after the Asset Transaction, Sequoia successfully abandoned wells, performed reclamation 

work and received reclamation certificates, acquired additional assets, recompleted wells, and 

steadily increased its production—all with the benefits an aggressive abandonment and 

reclamation program and a guaranteed floor price for natural gas on 90% of production from the 

Goodyear Assets.14 It was not until the end of summer 2017, when natural gas prices started 

falling and Sequoia chose to close out of the Gas Marketing Contract, that Sequoia started to 

experience financial difficulties.15 And it was not until March 2018 that Sequoia "no longer had 

certainty it would have sufficient cash to continue its operations... and filed a voluntary 

assignment into bankruptcy.16

B. Deferred Taxes, Commitments and Balance Sheet Presentation

1. Deferred taxes

8. Despite their position under the heading of "liabilities" on the balance sheet, deferred 

taxes are not liabilities. As defined in International Accounting Standard (IAS) 12 Income Taxes, 

deferred tax is recognised for the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences, unused 

tax losses carried forward, and unused tax credits carried forward.17 This differs from a current 

tax liability which is recognised for income tax payable in respect of all periods to date.18 Deferred 

taxes are notional amounts and, like ARO, do not represent an amount owing or an obligation to

13 Rose Affidavit at paras 72-74 and Exhibit H, Schedule I.
14 Affidavit of Mark Schweitzer sworn October 3, 2018 (Schweitzer 2018 Affidavit), Exhibit A (Sequoia 
Letter to Stakeholders dated March 26, 2020) and Exhibit B (Trustee's Preliminary Report); Affidavit of 
March Schweitzer sworn May 5, 2020 (Schweitzer 2020 Affidavit) at para 12(c); Rose Affidavit at 
paras 43(c)(i) and Exhibit I (Gas Marketing Contract).
15 Schweitzer 2018 Affidavit, Exhibit A (Sequoia Letter to Stakeholders dated March 26, 2020) and Exhibit B 
(Trustee's Preliminary Report); Schweitzer 2020 Affidavit at paras 12(c), 14; Rose Affidavit at paras 43(c)(i) 
and Exhibit I (Gas Marketing Contract).
16 Schweitzer 2020 Affidavit, Exhibit B (Trustee's Preliminary Report).
17 IAS 12 Income Taxes at "Objective" and paras 5, 15-16 [Tab 2].
18 IAS 12 Income Taxes at para 12 [Tab 2].
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pay a specific amount at a specific time—and therefore should not be considered in determining 

insolvency at any time (liquidity concerns or not) for any purpose.

2. Commitments

9. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements establishes financial statement disclosure 

requirements designed to assist readers of financial statements in understanding the nature and 

timing of payment of an entity's future contractual obligations. Contractual obligation disclosures 

include financial liabilities and debts that are presented on the balance sheet, as well as 

contractual "commitments" for the future provision of goods or services (such as pipeline capacity 

or office space).

10. Contractual commitments are not quantified on the balance sheet because the amounts 

are not yet due and payable, and because the benefits associated with the commitments have 

not yet been received. Instead, the items are listed in the disclosure notes, which provide a 

breakdown of when and over what period the commitment amounts will be due and owing. For 

example, when an office lease is signed there is a future obligation to make lease payments, but 

those obligations are not quantified on the balance sheet until the benefit of the future contracted 

amounts has been received and the liability to pay the contracted amounts becomes owing. 

Notably, commitments do not include provisions such as ARO that are conditional on future events 

to determine the timing and amount, and the counterparty to whom the provision or obligation 

may be owed.19 20

11. In general, the greater the time before a contractual commitment becomes due and 

payable, the less impact it has on liquidity and the less relevance the commitment has to 

determining an entity's solvency. In assessing the liquidity or solvency relevancy of a contractual 

commitment for the future provision of goods or services, the economic value of the good or 

service contracted for should also be considered in terms of its contribution to future cash flow 

generation of the entity or fair value recovery if the goods or services were sold to a third party.

19 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements [Jab 3].
20 Perpetual, CNRL and Cenovus do not include provisions or obligations with their financial statement 
"contractual commitments" note disclosures. See: Affidavit of Paul Darby sworn September 22, 2020 
(Darby 2020 Affidavit), Exhibit 1 (PEI 2016 Consolidated Financial Statements), Note 14 at p 22; 
Transcript from Questioning of Ron Laing held September 15, 2020 (Laing Transcript), Exhibit 1 (CNRL 
2019 Annual Report), Note 20 at p 93; Transcript from Questioning of Antonio Jackson held September 16, 
2020, Exhibit 1 (Cenovus 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements), Note 38 at p 56.
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3. Balance sheet presentation

12. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements requires that an entity present its current and 

non-current assets, and current and non-current liabilities, as separate classifications in its 

statement of financial position.21 Alternatively, an entity may present its assets and liabilities in 

order of liquidity or on a "mixed basis" if that provides information that is reliable and more 

relevant.22 Presenting on a mixed basis means some assets and liabilities are presented using a 

current/non-current classification and others in order of liquidity.

13. Perpetual, Cenovus and CNRL all prepare their balance sheets based on a mixed basis, 

separating current/non-current liabilities and provisions but also listing them in order of impact 

on liquidity. For example, all three entities list current accounts payable and accrued liabilities at 

the top of the liabilities section, followed by their other current liabilities due and payable within 

one year. They then present their long-term liabilities in descending order of impact on liquidity, 

followed by provisions, and, lastly, deferred taxes (if any):

(a) CNRL presents its long-term debt, other long-term liabilities, and ends with 

deferred income taxes;23

(b) Cenovus presents its long-term debt, lease liabilities, contingent payments, 

onerous contract provisions, decommissioning liabilities, other liabilities, and ends 

with deferred income taxes;24 and

(c) PEI presents its long term liabilities (fair value of derivatives, senior notes, gas 

over bitumen royalty financing) and ends with its provisions.25

14. Consistent with the presentation of the balance sheet in order of impact on liquidity, 

current financial liabilities have more relevance in assessing liquidity and solvency than do long

term provisions—which are poor indicators of solvency and should not be considered in a balance 

sheet test for the purposes of the BIA.

21 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements at para 60 [Tab 3].
22 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements at paras 60, 64 [Tab 3].
23 Laing Transcript, Exhibit 1 (CNRL 2019 Annual Report) at p 56.
24 Jackson Transcript, Exhibit 1 (Cenovus 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements) at p 9.
25 Darby 2020 Affidavit, Exhibit 1 (PEI 2016 Consolidated Financial Statements).



6

C. The Trust Indenture and Trust Relationship

15. The Perpetual Energy Defendants' submissions on the trust relationship between PEOC 

and POT, and whether there was a "transfer" reviewable under the BIA, are set out in their Briefs 

filed July 8 (paragraphs 35-46), September 28 (paragraphs 34-37) and September 30 (paragraphs 

39-45), 2020.

16. Relevant terms of the Trust Indenture26 include:

(a) Section 2.6 Legal Entitlements and Restrictions of Beneficiaries

States that "the legal ownership of the assets of the Trust... are vested exclusively in the 

Trustee ..., and the Beneficiaries, in their capacities as such, shall have no interest 

therein..." and "no Beneficiary... has or is deemed to have any right of ownership in any 

of the assets of the Trust". This confirms that PEOC held the legal interests in the 

Goodyear Assets both before and after the Asset Transaction—meaning PEOC was the 

licensee for the Goodyear Assets and responsible for any associated ARO.

(b) Section 2.7 Liability of Beneficiaries

Provides that PEI was not liable "whatsoever to any person in connection with the Trust 

Properties or the obligations or affairs of the Trust". This means that PEI was not liable 

for any ARO associated with the Goodyear Assets.

(c) Section 4.2(n) Power and Authority (Oil and Gas Operations)

Authorizes PEOC to hold the petroleum and natural gas licences. This explains the fact 

that PEOC held the licenses to the Goodyear Assets (and therefore had the responsibility 

for any associated ARO) before the Asset Transaction.

(d) Section 5.2 Transactions with Trustee

Empowers PEOC, as trustee, to "sell assets of the Trust Properties" to itself in its personal 

capacity. This contradicts the Trustee's argument that if POT is not an "entity", "person" 

or "party", then PEOC's counterparty to the Asset Transaction was PEI.27 As previously

26 Criece Affidavit at Exhibit A (First Amended and Restated Trust Indenture).
27 Trustee's Response to Requests from, and Questions for, the Parties dated December 17, 2018, 
Question 17(a).
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submitted, the Asset Transaction only combined the beneficial interests of the Goodyear 

Assets with the legal interests already held by PEOC.

(e) Section 5.4 Indemnification of Trustee and Section 5.5 Environmental Indemnity

Provides that PEOC "shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the Trust Properties to the 

extent of the Trust Properties against all liabilities... including those arising from... 

abatement and remediation of spills or releases of contaminants and liabilities of the 

Indemnified Parties... to third parties (including governmental agencies)...". This means 

that before the Asset Transaction, PEOC could be indemnified for costs it was responsible 

for related to assets it held in its capacity as trustee (namely, the Goodyear Assets) if and 

when it was required to incur abandonment or reclamation expenditures. After the Asset 

Transaction, PEOC held both the legal and beneficial interests in the Goodyear Assets.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED OCTOBER 9, 2020

BURNET, DUCKWORTH & PALMER LLP

Per:

sndants
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Interpretation

of Financial Institutions appointed under subsection 5(1) of the Office 
of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Act, (S.C. 2001, c. 9, s. 
572(2).)

“time of the bankruptcy”, in respect of a person, means the time of
(a) the granting of a bankruptcy order against the person,
(b) the filing of an assignment by or in respect of the person, or
(c) the event that causes an assignment by the person to be 

deemed;
(S.C. 2005, c. 47, s. 2(5).)

“title transfer credit support agreement” means an agreement under 
which an insolvent person or a bankrupt has provided title to property 
for the purpose of securing the payment or performance of an 
obligation of the insolvent person or bankrupt in respect of an eligible 
financial contract; (S.C. 2007, c. 29, s. 91(1).)

“transfer at undervalue” means a disposition of property or provision of 
services for which no consideration is received by the debtor or for 
which the consideration received by the debtor is conspicuously less 
than the fair market value of the consideration given by the debtor; 
(S.C. 2005, c. 47, s. 2(5); 2007, c. 36, s. 1(3).)

“trustee” or “licensed trustee” means a person who is licensed or 
appointed under this Act.

(R.S.C. 1985, c. 3I (1st Supp.), s. 69; S.C. 1992, c. 27, s. 3; 1995, c. 1, s.
62; 1997, c. 12, s. I; 1999, c. 28, s. 146; 1999, c. 31, s. 17; 2000, c. 12, s.
8; 2001, c. 4, s. 25; 2001, c. 9, s. 572; 2004, c. 25, s. 7; 2005, c. 3, s. 11; 2005, 
c. 47, s. 2; 2007, c. 29, s. 91; 2007, c. 36, s. I; 2012, c. 31, s. 414; 2018, c.
10, s. 82.)

Section 2.1. Designation of beneficiary — A change in the designa
tion of a beneficiary in an insurance contract is deemed to be a 
disposition of property for the purpose of this Act.

(S.C. 1997, c. 12, s. 2; 2004, c. 25, s. 8; 2005, c. 47, s. 3.)

Interpretation

The 2005 amendments to the Act repealed the delinition of “settlement” in 
subsection 2(1), added new terms and changed definitions including “bargaining 
agent”, “collective agreement”, “current assets”, “date of bankruptcy”, “director”, 
“income trust”, and “transfer at undervalue”.
|i These changes came into force on September 18, 2009.

Insolvent Person

An insolvent person is generally a person, partnership or corporation which is not 
nkrupt, which resides or carries on business or has property in Canada and which 

Bwes a minimum of $1,000 and:
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(a) is unable to meet his or her obligations as they generally become due [the
cash (low test];

(b) has ceased paying creditors in the ordinary course of business; [suspen
sion of payments test]; or

(c) whose property if sold at a fair valuation would not be sufficient to pay his
or her debts [balance sheet or liquidation test].

As a debtor qualifying as an “insolvent person”, the person, partnership o
corporation must reside, can y on business or have property in Canada. If the debtor
does not reside, carry on business or have property in Canada, the debtor does not
qualify to access the bankruptcy provisions and the proposal provisions under Part
III of the Act.29

Assuming the insolvent person resides or carries on business or has property in
Canada, the test is two-pronged:

(1) a debt of $ 1,000, and

(2) one of the following

(a) unable to pay debts as they become due (cash-flow test);30

(b) suspended payments (suspension of payments test); or

(c) insufficient assets if liquidated to pay the debts (balance sheet o
liquidation test).

With respect to the second prong, these are alternatives with only one factor
required to qualify to meet the test. The factor (a), “unable to meet his or her
obligations for any reason as they generally become due”, refers to the debtor’s
“cash flow” test. There does not have to be any reason for the debtor to explain why
it cannot pay its debts. If, for example, rent or source deductions are not being paid
on a regular basis, then it is highly likely that the debtor is insolvent.

The factor (b), “has ceased paying creditors in the ordinary course of business",
refers to the debtor’s advising the creditors that it has or is about to suspend
payments for a time period. In effect, this is an admission of insolvency (the
“suspension of debts” test).

And factor (c), “property if sold at a fair valuation would not be sufficient to [

29 Re Pocklington, [20171 A.J. No. 1076. 53 C.B.R. (6th) 83, 2017 ABQB 621 (Alli
Q.B.).

30 If the debtor is having a liquidity crisis in meeting future payments of debt, then that
liquidity crisis can amount to an insolvency under this cash-flow test. See, for example, in
CCAA proceedings, if the debtor cannot meet its obligations as they fall due within a shoit
period of time, then the debtor would qualify: See Re Stelco Inc., [2004] O.J. No. 1257,4 
C.B.R. (4th) 299 (Ont. S.C.J.), leave to appeal to the Court of Appeal refused, fou
comprehensive review of the factors and law regarding whether a debtor company ii
insolvent.



Interpretation

his or her debts”, refers to a net worth statement where the creditor needs to establish 
that the debtor does not have sufficient assets, if liquidated at fair market sale, to 
satisfy the debts. This is often referred to as the “balance sheet or liquidation” test. 
In calculating the debtor’s net worth, one has to include obligations currently 
payable and one does not have to include claims accruing due.31 Factor (a) is most 
common in practice.

Prior to a creditor taking any action to collect a debt, the debtor is generally aware 
that it is in financial difficulties, that it cannot pay its bills in the ordinary course and 
that it is continuing to accrue interest on accounts. For the consumer debtor, not 
being able to pay minimum amounts under credit cards or not being able to pay rent 
are the usual signs of danger and financial crisis.

For the business or corporate debtor, there are numerous danger signals or 
warning signs, any one and all of which require management of a business or 
corporate debtor to take protective measures in a timely manner. Management must 
look at the service or product it supplies and determine whether the business is still 
viable. These danger signals include weekly cash flow problems, inability to pay 
rent on leased premises and on leased equipment, inability to pay source deductions 
and HST on a regular basis, loss of a major customer or supplier, environmental 
issues, outdated financial reports, flood and fire disasters, defending collection 
lawsuits, labour issues, internal fraud, and death of a major executive.

Eligible Financial Contract

In 2007, Parliament amended the BIA as well as the CCAA, the Winding-up 
and Restructuring Act, and other legislation to deal with eligible financial 
contracts and derivatives.32 Until the amendment, these statutes did not define

31 Enterprise Capital Management Inc. v. Semi-Tech Corp., [1999] O.J. No. 5865 
(Ont. S.C.J.): Royal Bank of Canada v. Oxford Medical Imaging Inc., 12019J O.J. No. 
1295, 2019 ONSC 1020, 68 C.B.R. (6th) 19 (Ont. S.C.J.), where the court in following the 
Enterprise Capital Management case, stated at para. 39 that “. . .it is inappropriate to 
include every debt payable at some future date for the purposes of determining insolvency. 
This would render numerous corporations insolvent. Rather, debt obligations ought to be 
measured against the fair valuation of the company’s property and limited to obligations 
currently payable or properly chargeable.”

On the other hand, if the debtor is facing a liquidity crisis, the court will take that factor 
into consideration where debts are payable at some future date. See, for example. Re Stelco 
Inc., [2004] O.J. No. 1257. 48 C.B.R. (4th) 299 (Ont. S.C.J.). leave to appeal to the Court of 
Appeal refused, for a comprehensive review of the factors and law regarding whether a debtor 
company is insolvent. The Court reviewed variations of the insolvency test to determine 
whether a debtor will be insolvent if it cannot meet its future obligations, or would be facing 
a liquidity crisis if it could not meet its obligations as they become due within a short period 
of time.

32 SOR/2007-256, SOR/2007-257 and SOR/2007-258 are rules made under the BIA. 
CCCA. and Winding-Up and Restructuring Act. respectively, and came into force on
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Objective 

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting treatment for income taxes. 
The principal issue in accounting for income taxes is how to account for the current and 
future tax consequences of: 

(a)     the future recovery (settlement) of the carrying amount of assets (liabilities) that are 
recognised in an entity's statement of financial position; and 

(b)     transactions and other events of the current period that are recognised in an entity's 
financial statements. 

It is inherent in the recognition of an asset or liability that the reporting entity expects to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of that asset or liability. If it is probable that 
recovery or settlement of that carrying amount will make future tax payments larger 
(smaller) than they would be if such recovery or settlement were to have no tax 
consequences, this Standard requires an entity to recognise a deferred tax liability 
(deferred tax asset), with certain limited exceptions. 

This Standard requires an entity to account for the tax consequences of transactions and 
other events in the same way that it accounts for the transactions and other events 
themselves. Thus, for transactions and other events recognised in profit or loss, any 
related tax effects are also recognised in profit or loss. For transactions and other events 
recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity), any related tax effects are also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively). Similarly, the recognition of 
deferred tax assets and liabilities in a business combination affects the amount of goodwill 
arising in that business combination or the amount of the bargain purchase gain 
recognised. 

This Standard also deals with the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused 
tax losses or unused tax credits, the presentation of income taxes in the financial 
statements and the disclosure of information relating to income taxes. 



Scope 

1     This Standard shall be applied in accounting for income taxes. 

2       For the purposes of this Standard, income taxes include all domestic and foreign 
taxes which are based on taxable profits. Income taxes also include taxes, such as 
withholding taxes, which are payable by a subsidiary, associate or joint arrangement on 
distributions to the reporting entity. 

3       [Deleted] 

4       This Standard does not deal with the methods of accounting for government grants 
(see IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance) or investment tax credits. However, this Standard does deal with the 
accounting for temporary differences that may arise from such grants or investment tax 
credits. 

Definitions 

5     The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified: 

     Accounting profit is profit or loss for a period before deducting tax expense. 

     Taxable profit (tax loss) is the profit (loss) for a period, determined in accordance with 
the rules established by the taxation authorities, upon which income taxes are payable 
(recoverable). 

     Tax expense (tax income) is the aggregate amount included in the determination of 
profit or loss for the period in respect of current tax and deferred tax. 

     Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable (recoverable) in respect of the 
taxable profit (tax loss) for a period. 

     Deferred tax liabilities are the amounts of income taxes payable in future periods in 
respect of taxable temporary differences. 

     Deferred tax assets are the amounts of income taxes recoverable in future periods in 
respect of: 

(a)     deductible temporary differences; 

(b)     the carryforward of unused tax losses; and 

(c)     the carryforward of unused tax credits. 

     Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of an asset or 
liability in the statement of financial position and its tax base. Temporary differences may 
be either: 



(a)     taxable temporary differences, which are temporary differences that will result in 
taxable amounts in determining taxable profit (tax loss) of future periods when the 
carrying amount of the asset or liability is recovered or settled; or 

(b)     deductible temporary differences, which are temporary differences that will result in 
amounts that are deductible in determining taxable profit (tax loss) of future periods when 
the carrying amount of the asset or liability is recovered or settled. 

     The tax base of an asset or liability is the amount attributed to that asset or liability for 
tax purposes. 

6       Tax expense (tax income) comprises current tax expense (current tax income) and 
deferred tax expense (deferred tax income). 

Tax base 

7       The tax base of an asset is the amount that will be deductible for tax purposes 
against any taxable economic benefits that will flow to an entity when it recovers the 
carrying amount of the asset. If those economic benefits will not be taxable, the tax base 
of the asset is equal to its carrying amount. 

Examples 

1    A machine cost 100. For tax purposes, depreciation of 30 has already been deducted 
in the current and prior periods and the remaining cost will be deductible in future 
periods, either as depreciation or through a deduction on disposal. Revenue generated by 
using the machine is taxable, any gain on disposal of the machine will be taxable and any 
loss on disposal will be deductible for tax purposes. The tax base of the machine is 70. 

2    Interest receivable has a carrying amount of 100. The related interest revenue will be 
taxed on a cash basis. The tax base of the interest receivable is nil. 

3    Trade receivables have a carrying amount of 100. The related revenue has already 
been included in taxable profit (tax loss). The tax base of the trade receivables is 100. 

4    Dividends receivable from a subsidiary have a carrying amount of 100. The dividends 
are not taxable. In substance, the entire carrying amount of the asset is deductible against 
the economic benefits. Consequently, the tax base of the dividends receivable is 100. (a) 

5    A loan receivable has a carrying amount of 100. The repayment of the loan will have 
no tax consequences. The tax base of the loan is 100. 

(a) Under this analysis, there is no taxable temporary difference. An alternative analysis 
is that the accrued dividends receivable have a tax base of nil and that a tax rate of nil is 
applied to the resulting taxable temporary difference of 100. Under both analyses, there is 
no deferred tax liability. 

8       The tax base of a liability is its carrying amount, less any amount that will be 
deductible for tax purposes in respect of that liability in future periods. In the case of 



revenue which is received in advance, the tax base of the resulting liability is its carrying 
amount, less any amount of the revenue that will not be taxable in future periods. 

Examples 

1    Current liabilities include accrued expenses with a carrying amount of 100. The 
related expense will be deducted for tax purposes on a cash basis. The tax base of the 
accrued expenses is nil. 

2    Current liabilities include interest revenue received in advance, with a carrying 
amount of 100. The related interest revenue was taxed on a cash basis. The tax base of the 
interest received in advance is nil. 

3    Current liabilities include accrued expenses with a carrying amount of 100. The 
related expense has already been deducted for tax purposes. The tax base of the accrued 
expenses is 100. 

4    Current liabilities include accrued fines and penalties with a carrying amount of 100. 
Fines and penalties are not deductible for tax purposes. The tax base of the accrued fines 
and penalties is 100. (a) 

5    A loan payable has a carrying amount of 100. The repayment of the loan will have no 
tax consequences. The tax base of the loan is 100. 

(a)  Under this analysis, there is no deductible temporary difference. An alternative 
analysis is that the accrued fines and penalties payable have a tax base of nil and that a 
tax rate of nil is applied to the resulting deductible temporary difference of 100. Under 
both analyses, there is no deferred tax asset. 

9       Some items have a tax base but are not recognised as assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position. For example, research costs are recognised as an expense 
in determining accounting profit in the period in which they are incurred but may not be 
permitted as a deduction in determining taxable profit (tax loss) until a later period. The 
difference between the tax base of the research costs, being the amount the taxation 
authorities will permit as a deduction in future periods, and the carrying amount of nil is a 
deductible temporary difference that results in a deferred tax asset. 

10      Where the tax base of an asset or liability is not immediately apparent, it is helpful 
to consider the fundamental principle upon which this Standard is based: that an entity 
shall, with certain limited exceptions, recognise a deferred tax liability (asset) whenever 
recovery or settlement of the carrying amount of an asset or liability would make future 
tax payments larger (smaller) than they would be if such recovery or settlement were to 
have no tax consequences. Example C following paragraph 51A illustrates circumstances 
when it may be helpful to consider this fundamental principle, for example, when the tax 
base of an asset or liability depends on the expected manner of recovery or settlement. 

11      In consolidated financial statements, temporary differences are determined by 
comparing the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial 
statements with the appropriate tax base. The tax base is determined by reference to a 



consolidated tax return in those jurisdictions in which such a return is filed. In other 
jurisdictions, the tax base is determined by reference to the tax returns of each entity in 
the group. 

Recognition of current tax liabilities and current tax assets 

12     Current tax for current and prior periods shall, to the extent unpaid, be recognised as 
a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the 
amount due for those periods, the excess shall be recognised as an asset. 

13     The benefit relating to a tax loss that can be carried back to recover current tax of a 
previous period shall be recognised as an asset. 

14      When a tax loss is used to recover current tax of a previous period, an entity 
recognises the benefit as an asset in the period in which the tax loss occurs because it is 
probable that the benefit will flow to the entity and the benefit can be reliably measured. 

Recognition of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 

Taxable temporary differences 

15     A deferred tax liability shall be recognised for all taxable temporary differences, 
except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from: 

(a)     the initial recognition of goodwill; or 

(b)     the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which: 

(i)     is not a business combination; and 

(ii)     at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax 
loss). 

     However, for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, branches and associates, and interests in joint arrangements, a deferred tax 
liability shall be recognised in accordance with paragraph 39. 

16      It is inherent in the recognition of an asset that its carrying amount will be 
recovered in the form of economic benefits that flow to the entity in future periods. When 
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its tax base, the amount of taxable economic 
benefits will exceed the amount that will be allowed as a deduction for tax purposes. This 
difference is a taxable temporary difference and the obligation to pay the resulting income 
taxes in future periods is a deferred tax liability. As the entity recovers the carrying 
amount of the asset, the taxable temporary difference will reverse and the entity will have 
taxable profit. This makes it probable that economic benefits will flow from the entity in 
the form of tax payments. Therefore, this Standard requires the recognition of all deferred 
tax liabilities, except in certain circumstances described in paragraphs 15 and 39. 



Example 

An asset which cost 150 has a carrying amount of 100. Cumulative depreciation for tax 
purposes is 90 and the tax rate is 25%. 

The tax base of the asset is 60 (cost of 150 less cumulative tax depreciation of 90). To 
recover the carrying amount of 100, the entity must earn taxable income of 100, but will 
only be able to deduct tax depreciation of 60. Consequently, the entity will pay income 
taxes of 10 (40 at 25%) when it recovers the carrying amount of the asset. The difference 
between the carrying amount of 100 and the tax base of 60 is a taxable temporary 
difference of 40. Therefore, the entity recognises a deferred tax liability of 10 (40 at 25%) 
representing the income taxes that it will pay when it recovers the carrying amount of the 
asset. 

17      Some temporary differences arise when income or expense is included in 
accounting profit in one period but is included in taxable profit in a different period. Such 
temporary differences are often described as timing differences. The following are 
examples of temporary differences of this kind which are taxable temporary differences 
and which therefore result in deferred tax liabilities: 

(a)     interest revenue is included in accounting profit on a time proportion basis but may, 
in some jurisdictions, be included in taxable profit when cash is collected. The tax base of 
any receivable recognised in the statement of financial position with respect to such 
revenues is nil because the revenues do not affect taxable profit until cash is collected; 

(b)     depreciation used in determining taxable profit (tax loss) may differ from that used 
in determining accounting profit. The temporary difference is the difference between the 
carrying amount of the asset and its tax base which is the original cost of the asset less all 
deductions in respect of that asset permitted by the taxation authorities in determining 
taxable profit of the current and prior periods. A taxable temporary difference arises, and 
results in a deferred tax liability, when tax depreciation is accelerated (if tax depreciation 
is less rapid than accounting depreciation, a deductible temporary difference arises, and 
results in a deferred tax asset); and 

(c)     development costs may be capitalised and amortised over future periods in 
determining accounting profit but deducted in determining taxable profit in the period in 
which they are incurred. Such development costs have a tax base of nil as they have 
already been deducted from taxable profit. The temporary difference is the difference 
between the carrying amount of the development costs and their tax base of nil. 

18      Temporary differences also arise when: 

(a)     the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
recognised at their fair values in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, but no 
equivalent adjustment is made for tax purposes (see paragraph 19); 



(b)     assets are revalued and no equivalent adjustment is made for tax purposes (see 
paragraph 20); 

(c)     goodwill arises in a business combination (see paragraph 21); 

(d)     the tax base of an asset or liability on initial recognition differs from its initial 
carrying amount, for example when an entity benefits from non-taxable government 
grants related to assets (see paragraphs 22 and 33); or 

(e)     the carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates or 
interests in joint arrangements becomes different from the tax base of the investment or 
interest (see paragraphs 38–45). 

Business combinations 

19      With limited exceptions, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date. Temporary 
differences arise when the tax bases of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed are not affected by the business combination or are affected differently. For 
example, when the carrying amount of an asset is increased to fair value but the tax base 
of the asset remains at cost to the previous owner, a taxable temporary difference arises 
which results in a deferred tax liability. The resulting deferred tax liability affects 
goodwill (see paragraph 66). 

Assets carried at fair value 

20      IFRSs permit or require certain assets to be carried at fair value or to be revalued 
(see, for example, IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 38 Intangible Assets, IAS 
40 Investment Property, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 and IFRS 16 Leases). In some 
jurisdictions, the revaluation or other restatement of an asset to fair value affects taxable 
profit (tax loss) for the current period. As a result, the tax base of the asset is adjusted and 
no temporary difference arises. In other jurisdictions, the revaluation or restatement of an 
asset does not affect taxable profit in the period of the revaluation or restatement and, 
consequently, the tax base of the asset is not adjusted. Nevertheless, the future recovery of 
the carrying amount will result in a taxable flow of economic benefits to the entity and the 
amount that will be deductible for tax purposes will differ from the amount of those 
economic benefits. The difference between the carrying amount of a revalued asset and its 
tax base is a temporary difference and gives rise to a deferred tax liability or asset. This is 
true even if: 

(a)     the entity does not intend to dispose of the asset. In such cases, the revalued 
carrying amount of the asset will be recovered through use and this will generate taxable 
income which exceeds the depreciation that will be allowable for tax purposes in future 
periods; or 

(b)     tax on capital gains is deferred if the proceeds of the disposal of the asset are 
invested in similar assets. In such cases, the tax will ultimately become payable on sale or 
use of the similar assets. 



Goodwill 

21      Goodwill arising in a business combination is measured as the excess of (a) over (b) 
below: 

(a)     the aggregate of: 

(i)     the consideration transferred measured in accordance with IFRS 3, which generally 
requires acquisition-date fair value; 

(ii)    the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree recognised in accordance 
with IFRS 3; and 

(iii)   in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the 
acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree. 

(b)     the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed measured in accordance with IFRS 3. 

Many taxation authorities do not allow reductions in the carrying amount of goodwill as a 
deductible expense in determining taxable profit. Moreover, in such jurisdictions, the cost 
of goodwill is often not deductible when a subsidiary disposes of its underlying business. 
In such jurisdictions, goodwill has a tax base of nil. Any difference between the carrying 
amount of goodwill and its tax base of nil is a taxable temporary difference. However, this 
Standard does not permit the recognition of the resulting deferred tax liability because 
goodwill is measured as a residual and the recognition of the deferred tax liability would 
increase the carrying amount of goodwill. 

21A     Subsequent reductions in a deferred tax liability that is unrecognised because it 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill are also regarded as arising from the initial 
recognition of goodwill and are therefore not recognised under paragraph 15(a). For 
example, if in a business combination an entity recognises goodwill of CU100 that has a 
tax base of nil, paragraph 15(a) prohibits the entity from recognising the resulting 
deferred tax liability. If the entity subsequently recognises an impairment loss of CU20 
for that goodwill, the amount of the taxable temporary difference relating to the goodwill 
is reduced from CU100 to CU80, with a resulting decrease in the value of the 
unrecognised deferred tax liability. That decrease in the value of the unrecognised 
deferred tax liability is also regarded as relating to the initial recognition of the goodwill 
and is therefore prohibited from being recognised under paragraph 15(a). 

21B     Deferred tax liabilities for taxable temporary differences relating to goodwill are, 
however, recognised to the extent they do not arise from the initial recognition of 
goodwill. For example, if in a business combination an entity recognises goodwill 
of CU100 that is deductible for tax purposes at a rate of 20 per cent per year starting in the 
year of acquisition, the tax base of the goodwill is CU100 on initial recognition and CU80 
at the end of the year of acquisition. If the carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the 
year of acquisition remains unchanged at CU100, a taxable temporary difference of CU20 



arises at the end of that year. Because that taxable temporary difference does not relate to 
the initial recognition of the goodwill, the resulting deferred tax liability is recognised. 

Initial recognition of an asset or liability 

22      A temporary difference may arise on initial recognition of an asset or liability, for 
example if part or all of the cost of an asset will not be deductible for tax purposes. The 
method of accounting for such a temporary difference depends on the nature of the 
transaction that led to the initial recognition of the asset or liability: 

(a)     in a business combination, an entity recognises any deferred tax liability or asset 
and this affects the amount of goodwill or bargain purchase gain it recognises (see 
paragraph 19); 

(b)     if the transaction affects either accounting profit or taxable profit, an entity 
recognises any deferred tax liability or asset and recognises the resulting deferred tax 
expense or income in profit or loss (see paragraph 59); 

(c)     if the transaction is not a business combination, and affects neither accounting profit 
nor taxable profit, an entity would, in the absence of the exemption provided by 
paragraphs 15 and 24, recognise the resulting deferred tax liability or asset and adjust the 
carrying amount of the asset or liability by the same amount. Such adjustments would 
make the financial statements less transparent. Therefore, this Standard does not permit an 
entity to recognise the resulting deferred tax liability or asset, either on initial recognition 
or subsequently (see example below). Furthermore, an entity does not recognise 
subsequent changes in the unrecognised deferred tax liability or asset as the asset is 
depreciated. 

Example illustrating paragraph 22(c) 

An entity intends to use an asset which cost 1,000 throughout its useful life of five years 
and then dispose of it for a residual value of nil. The tax rate is 40%. Depreciation of the 
asset is not deductible for tax purposes. On disposal, any capital gain would not be 
taxable and any capital loss would not be deductible. 

As it recovers the carrying amount of the asset, the entity will earn taxable income 
of 1,000 and pay tax of 400. The entity does not recognise the resulting deferred tax 
liability of 400 because it results from the initial recognition of the asset. 

In the following year, the carrying amount of the asset is 800. In earning taxable income 
of 800, the entity will pay tax of 320. The entity does not recognise the deferred tax 
liability of 320 because it results from the initial recognition of the asset. 

23      In accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation the issuer of a 
compound financial instrument (for example, a convertible bond) classifies the 
instrument's liability component as a liability and the equity component as equity. In some 
jurisdictions, the tax base of the liability component on initial recognition is equal to the 
initial carrying amount of the sum of the liability and equity components. The resulting 



taxable temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of the equity component 
separately from the liability component. Therefore, the exception set out in 
paragraph 15(b) does not apply. Consequently, an entity recognises the resulting deferred 
tax liability. In accordance with paragraph 61A, the deferred tax is charged directly to the 
carrying amount of the equity component. In accordance with paragraph 58, subsequent 
changes in the deferred tax liability are recognised in profit or loss as deferred tax expense 
(income). 

Deductible temporary differences 

24     A deferred tax asset shall be recognised for all deductible temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary difference can be utilised, unless the deferred tax asset arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that: 

(a)     is not a business combination; and 

(b)     at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax 
loss). 

     However, for deductible temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, branches and associates, and interests in joint arrangements, a deferred tax 
asset shall be recognised in accordance with paragraph 44. 

25      It is inherent in the recognition of a liability that the carrying amount will be settled 
in future periods through an outflow from the entity of resources embodying economic 
benefits. When resources flow from the entity, part or all of their amounts may be 
deductible in determining taxable profit of a period later than the period in which the 
liability is recognised. In such cases, a temporary difference exists between the carrying 
amount of the liability and its tax base. Accordingly, a deferred tax asset arises in respect 
of the income taxes that will be recoverable in the future periods when that part of the 
liability is allowed as a deduction in determining taxable profit. Similarly, if the carrying 
amount of an asset is less than its tax base, the difference gives rise to a deferred tax asset 
in respect of the income taxes that will be recoverable in future periods. 

Example 

An entity recognises a liability of 100 for accrued product warranty costs. For tax 
purposes, the product warranty costs will not be deductible until the entity pays claims. 
The tax rate is 25%. 

The tax base of the liability is nil (carrying amount of 100, less the amount that will be 
deductible for tax purposes in respect of that liability in future periods). In settling the 
liability for its carrying amount, the entity will reduce its future taxable profit by an 
amount of 100 and, consequently, reduce its future tax payments by 25 (100 at 25%). The 
difference between the carrying amount of 100 and the tax base of nil is a deductible 
temporary difference of 100. Therefore, the entity recognises a deferred tax asset of 25 



(100 at 25%), provided that it is probable that the entity will earn sufficient taxable profit 
in future periods to benefit from a reduction in tax payments. 

26      The following are examples of deductible temporary differences that result in 
deferred tax assets: 

(a)     retirement benefit costs may be deducted in determining accounting profit as service 
is provided by the employee, but deducted in determining taxable profit either when 
contributions are paid to a fund by the entity or when retirement benefits are paid by the 
entity. A temporary difference exists between the carrying amount of the liability and its 
tax base; the tax base of the liability is usually nil. Such a deductible temporary difference 
results in a deferred tax asset as economic benefits will flow to the entity in the form of a 
deduction from taxable profits when contributions or retirement benefits are paid; 

(b)     research costs are recognised as an expense in determining accounting profit in the 
period in which they are incurred but may not be permitted as a deduction in determining 
taxable profit (tax loss) until a later period. The difference between the tax base of the 
research costs, being the amount the taxation authorities will permit as a deduction in 
future periods, and the carrying amount of nil is a deductible temporary difference that 
results in a deferred tax asset; 

(c)     with limited exceptions, an entity recognises the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed in a business combination at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
When a liability assumed is recognised at the acquisition date but the related costs are not 
deducted in determining taxable profits until a later period, a deductible temporary 
difference arises which results in a deferred tax asset. A deferred tax asset also arises 
when the fair value of an identifiable asset acquired is less than its tax base. In both cases, 
the resulting deferred tax asset affects goodwill (see paragraph 66); and 

(d)     certain assets may be carried at fair value, or may be revalued, without an 
equivalent adjustment being made for tax purposes (see paragraph 20). A deductible 
temporary difference arises if the tax base of the asset exceeds its carrying amount. 

Example illustrating paragraph 26(d) 

Identification of a deductible temporary difference at the end of Year 2: 

Entity A purchases for CU1,000, at the beginning of Year 1, a debt instrument with a 
nominal value of CU1,000 payable on maturity in 5 years with an interest rate of 2% 
payable at the end of each year. The effective interest rate is 2%. The debt instrument is 
measured at fair value. 

At the end of Year 2, the fair value of the debt instrument has decreased to CU918 as a 
result of an increase in market interest rates to 5%. It is probable that Entity A will collect 
all the contractual cash flows if it continues to hold the debt instrument. 

Any gains (losses) on the debt instrument are taxable (deductible) only when realised. 



The gains (losses) arising on the sale or maturity of the debt instrument are calculated for 
tax purposes as the difference between the amount collected and the original cost of the 
debt instrument. 

Accordingly, the tax base of the debt instrument is its original cost. 

The difference between the carrying amount of the debt instrument in Entity A's statement 
of financial position of CU918 and its tax base of CU1,000 gives rise to a deductible 
temporary difference of CU82 at the end of Year 2 (see paragraphs 20 and 26(d)), 
irrespective of whether Entity A expects to recover the carrying amount of the debt 
instrument by sale or by use, ie by holding it and collecting contractual cash flows, or a 
combination of both. 

This is because deductible temporary differences are differences between the carrying 
amount of an asset or liability in the statement of financial position and its tax base that 
will result in amounts that are deductible in determining taxable profit (tax loss) of future 
periods, when the carrying amount of the asset or liability is recovered or settled (see 
paragraph 5). Entity A obtains a deduction equivalent to the tax base of the asset of 
CU1,000 in determining taxable profit (tax loss) either on sale or on maturity. 

27      The reversal of deductible temporary differences results in deductions in 
determining taxable profits of future periods. However, economic benefits in the form of 
reductions in tax payments will flow to the entity only if it earns sufficient taxable profits 
against which the deductions can be offset. Therefore, an entity recognises deferred tax 
assets only when it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

27A     When an entity assesses whether taxable profits will be available against which it 
can utilise a deductible temporary difference, it considers whether tax law restricts the 
sources of taxable profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that 
deductible temporary difference. If tax law imposes no such restrictions, an entity 
assesses a deductible temporary difference in combination with all of its other deductible 
temporary differences. However, if tax law restricts the utilisation of losses to deduction 
against income of a specific type, a deductible temporary difference is assessed in 
combination only with other deductible temporary differences of the appropriate type. 

28      It is probable that taxable profit will be available against which a deductible 
temporary difference can be utilised when there are sufficient taxable temporary 
differences relating to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity which are 
expected to reverse: 

(a)     in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference; 
or 

(b)     in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried 
back or forward. 



In such circumstances, the deferred tax asset is recognised in the period in which the 
deductible temporary differences arise. 

29      When there are insufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same 
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, the deferred tax asset is recognised to the 
extent that: 

(a)     it is probable that the entity will have sufficient taxable profit relating to the same 
taxation authority and the same taxable entity in the same period as the reversal of the 
deductible temporary difference (or in the periods into which a tax loss arising from the 
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward). In evaluating whether it will have 
sufficient taxable profit in future periods, an entity: 

(i)     compares the deductible temporary differences with future taxable profit that 
excludes tax deductions resulting from the reversal of those deductible temporary 
differences. This comparison shows the extent to which the future taxable profit is 
sufficient for the entity to deduct the amounts resulting from the reversal of those 
deductible temporary differences; and 

(ii)    ignores taxable amounts arising from deductible temporary differences that are 
expected to originate in future periods, because the deferred tax asset arising from these 
deductible temporary differences will itself require future taxable profit in order to be 
utilized; or 

(b)     tax planning opportunities are available to the entity that will create taxable profit in 
appropriate periods. 

29A     The estimate of probable future taxable profit may include the recovery of some of 
an entity's assets for more than their carrying amount if there is sufficient evidence that it 
is probable that the entity will achieve this. For example, when an asset is measured at fair 
value, the entity shall consider whether there is sufficient evidence to conclude that it is 
probable that the entity will recover the asset for more than its carrying amount. This may 
be the case, for example, when an entity expects to hold a fixed-rate debt instrument and 
collect the contractual cash flows. 

30      Tax planning opportunities are actions that the entity would take in order to create 
or increase taxable income in a particular period before the expiry of a tax loss or tax 
credit carryforward. For example, in some jurisdictions, taxable profit may be created or 
increased by: 

(a)     electing to have interest income taxed on either a received or receivable basis; 

(b)     deferring the claim for certain deductions from taxable profit; 

(c)     selling, and perhaps leasing back, assets that have appreciated but for which the tax 
base has not been adjusted to reflect such appreciation; and 



(d)     selling an asset that generates non-taxable income (such as, in some jurisdictions, a 
government bond) in order to purchase another investment that generates taxable income. 

Where tax planning opportunities advance taxable profit from a later period to an earlier 
period, the utilisation of a tax loss or tax credit carryforward still depends on the existence 
of future taxable profit from sources other than future originating temporary differences. 

31      When an entity has a history of recent losses, the entity considers the guidance in 
paragraphs 35 and 36. 

32      [Deleted] 

Goodwill 

32A     If the carrying amount of goodwill arising in a business combination is less than 
its tax base, the difference gives rise to a deferred tax asset. The deferred tax asset arising 
from the initial recognition of goodwill shall be recognised as part of the accounting for a 
business combination to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary difference could be utilised. 

Initial recognition of an asset or liability 

33      One case when a deferred tax asset arises on initial recognition of an asset is when a 
non-taxable government grant related to an asset is deducted in arriving at the carrying 
amount of the asset but, for tax purposes, is not deducted from the asset's depreciable 
amount (in other words its tax base); the carrying amount of the asset is less than its tax 
base and this gives rise to a deductible temporary difference. Government grants may also 
be set up as deferred income in which case the difference between the deferred income 
and its tax base of nil is a deductible temporary difference. Whichever method of 
presentation an entity adopts, the entity does not recognise the resulting deferred tax asset, 
for the reason given in paragraph 22. 

Unused tax losses and unused tax credits 

34     A deferred tax asset shall be recognised for the carryforward of unused tax losses 
and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. 

35      The criteria for recognising deferred tax assets arising from the carryforward of 
unused tax losses and tax credits are the same as the criteria for recognising deferred tax 
assets arising from deductible temporary differences. However, the existence of unused 
tax losses is strong evidence that future taxable profit may not be available. Therefore, 
when an entity has a history of recent losses, the entity recognises a deferred tax asset 
arising from unused tax losses or tax credits only to the extent that the entity has sufficient 
taxable temporary differences or there is convincing other evidence that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available against which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be 
utilised by the entity. In such circumstances, paragraph 82 requires disclosure of the 
amount of the deferred tax asset and the nature of the evidence supporting its recognition. 



36      An entity considers the following criteria in assessing the probability that taxable 
profit will be available against which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be 
utilised: 

(a)     whether the entity has sufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same 
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, which will result in taxable amounts 
against which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised before they 
expire; 

(b)     whether it is probable that the entity will have taxable profits before the unused tax 
losses or unused tax credits expire; 

(c)     whether the unused tax losses result from identifiable causes which are unlikely to 
recur; and 

(d)     whether tax planning opportunities (see paragraph 30) are available to the entity that 
will create taxable profit in the period in which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits 
can be utilised. 

To the extent that it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised, the deferred tax asset is not 
recognised. 

Reassessment of unrecognised deferred tax assets 

37      At the end of each reporting period, an entity reassesses unrecognised deferred tax 
assets. The entity recognises a previously unrecognised deferred tax asset to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to 
be recovered. For example, an improvement in trading conditions may make it more 
probable that the entity will be able to generate sufficient taxable profit in the future for 
the deferred tax asset to meet the recognition criteria set out in paragraph 24 or 34. 
Another example is when an entity reassesses deferred tax assets at the date of a business 
combination or subsequently (see paragraphs 67 and 68). 

Investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates and interests in joint arrangements 

38      Temporary differences arise when the carrying amount of investments in 
subsidiaries, branches and associates or interests in joint arrangements (namely the parent 
or investor's share of the net assets of the subsidiary, branch, associate or investee, 
including the carrying amount of goodwill) becomes different from the tax base (which is 
often cost) of the investment or interest. Such differences may arise in a number of 
different circumstances, for example: 

(a)     the existence of undistributed profits of subsidiaries, branches, associates and joint 
arrangements; 

(b)     changes in foreign exchange rates when a parent and its subsidiary are based in 
different countries; and 



(c)     a reduction in the carrying amount of an investment in an associate to its 
recoverable amount. 

In consolidated financial statements, the temporary difference may be different from the 
temporary difference associated with that investment in the parent's separate financial 
statements if the parent carries the investment in its separate financial statements at cost 
or revalued amount. 

39     An entity shall recognise a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates, and interests in joint 
arrangements, except to the extent that both of the following conditions are satisfied: 

(a)     the parent, investor, joint venturer or joint operator is able to control the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary difference; and 

(b)     it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

40      As a parent controls the dividend policy of its subsidiary, it is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of temporary differences associated with that investment (including 
the temporary differences arising not only from undistributed profits but also from any 
foreign exchange translation differences). Furthermore, it would often be impracticable to 
determine the amount of income taxes that would be payable when the temporary 
difference reverses. Therefore, when the parent has determined that those profits will not 
be distributed in the foreseeable future the parent does not recognise a deferred tax 
liability. The same considerations apply to investments in branches. 

41      The non-monetary assets and liabilities of an entity are measured in its functional 
currency (see IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates). If the entity's 
taxable profit or tax loss (and, hence, the tax base of its non-monetary assets and 
liabilities) is determined in a different currency, changes in the exchange rate give rise to 
temporary differences that result in a recognised deferred tax liability or (subject to 
paragraph 24) asset. The resulting deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss (see 
paragraph 58). 

42      An investor in an associate does not control that entity and is usually not in a 
position to determine its dividend policy. Therefore, in the absence of an agreement 
requiring that the profits of the associate will not be distributed in the foreseeable future, 
an investor recognises a deferred tax liability arising from taxable temporary differences 
associated with its investment in the associate. In some cases, an investor may not be able 
to determine the amount of tax that would be payable if it recovers the cost of its 
investment in an associate, but can determine that it will equal or exceed a minimum 
amount. In such cases, the deferred tax liability is measured at this amount. 

43      The arrangement between the parties to a joint arrangement usually deals with the 
distribution of the profits and identifies whether decisions on such matters require the 
consent of all the parties or a group of the parties. When the joint venturer or joint 
operator can control the timing of the distribution of its share of the profits of the joint 



arrangement and it is probable that its share of the profits will not be distributed in the 
foreseeable future, a deferred tax liability is not recognised. 

44     An entity shall recognise a deferred tax asset for all deductible temporary 
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates, and interests 
in joint arrangements, to the extent that, and only to the extent that, it is probable that: 

(a)     the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

(b)     taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be 
utilised. 

45      In deciding whether a deferred tax asset is recognised for deductible temporary 
differences associated with its investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates, and its 
interests in joint arrangements, an entity considers the guidance set out in paragraphs 28 
to 31. 

Measurement 

46     Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods shall be measured at 
the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. 

47     Deferred tax assets and liabilities shall be measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. 

48      Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are usually measured using the tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted. However, in some jurisdictions, 
announcements of tax rates (and tax laws) by the government have the substantive effect 
of actual enactment, which may follow the announcement by a period of several months. 
In these circumstances, tax assets and liabilities are measured using the announced tax 
rate (and tax laws). 

49      When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable income, deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are measured using the average rates that are expected to apply to the 
taxable profit (tax loss) of the periods in which the temporary differences are expected to 
reverse. 

50      [Deleted] 

51     The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets shall reflect the 
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the entity expects, at the 
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities. 



51A     In some jurisdictions, the manner in which an entity recovers (settles) the carrying 
amount of an asset (liability) may affect either or both of: 

(a)     the tax rate applicable when the entity recovers (settles) the carrying amount of the 
asset (liability); and 

(b)     the tax base of the asset (liability). 

In such cases, an entity measures deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets using the 
tax rate and the tax base that are consistent with the expected manner of recovery or 
settlement. 

Example A 

An item of property, plant and equipment has a carrying amount of 100 and a tax base 
of 60. A tax rate of 20% would apply if the item were sold and a tax rate of 30% would 
apply to other income. 

The entity recognises a deferred tax liability of 8 (40 at 20%) if it expects to sell the item 
without further use and a deferred tax liability of 12 (40 at 30%) if it expects to retain the 
item and recover its carrying amount through use. 

Example B 

An item of property, plant and equipment with a cost of 100 and a carrying amount of 80 
is revalued to 150. No equivalent adjustment is made for tax purposes. Cumulative 
depreciation for tax purposes is 30 and the tax rate is 30%. If the item is sold for more 
than cost, the cumulative tax depreciation of 30 will be included in taxable income but 
sale proceeds in excess of cost will not be taxable. 

The tax base of the item is 70 and there is a taxable temporary difference of 80. If the 
entity expects to recover the carrying amount by using the item, it must generate taxable 
income of 150, but will only be able to deduct depreciation of 70. On this basis, there is a 
deferred tax liability of 24 (80 at 30%). If the entity expects to recover the carrying 
amount by selling the item immediately for proceeds of 150, the deferred tax liability is 
computed as follows: 

  Taxable 
Temporary 
Difference 

 
 

Tax Rate 

 

Deferred Tax 
Liability 

Cumulative tax depreciation 30 30% 9 

Proceeds in excess of cost        50 nil          – 

Total 80   9 

  =====   ===== 

(note: in accordance with paragraph 61A, the additional deferred tax that arises on the 



revaluation is recognised in other comprehensive income) 

Example C 

The facts are as in example B, except that if the item is sold for more than cost, the 
cumulative tax depreciation will be included in taxable income (taxed at 30%) and the 
sale proceeds will be taxed at 40%, after deducting an inflation-adjusted cost of 110. 

If the entity expects to recover the carrying amount by using the item, it must generate 
taxable income of 150, but will only be able to deduct depreciation of 70. On this basis, 
the tax base is 70, there is a taxable temporary difference of 80 and there is a deferred 
tax liability of 24 (80 at 30%), as in example B. 

If the entity expects to recover the carrying amount by selling the item immediately for 
proceeds of 150, the entity will be able to deduct the indexed cost of 110. The net 
proceeds of 40 will be taxed at 40%. In addition, the cumulative tax depreciation of 30 
will be included in taxable income and taxed at 30%. On this basis, the tax base is 80 
(110 less 30), there is a taxable temporary difference of 70 and there is a deferred tax 
liability of 25 (40 at 40% plus 30 at 30%). If the tax base is not immediately apparent in 
this example, it may be helpful to consider the fundamental principle set out in 
paragraph 10. 

(note: in accordance with paragraph 61A, the additional deferred tax that arises on the 
revaluation is recognised in other comprehensive income) 

51B     If a deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset arises from a non-depreciable asset 
measured using the revaluation model in IAS 16, the measurement of the deferred tax 
liability or deferred tax asset shall reflect the tax consequences of recovering the carrying 
amount of the non-depreciable asset through sale, regardless of the basis of measuring the 
carrying amount of that asset. Accordingly, if the tax law specifies a tax rate applicable to 
the taxable amount derived from the sale of an asset that differs from the tax rate 
applicable to the taxable amount derived from using an asset, the former rate is applied in 
measuring the deferred tax liability or asset related to a non-depreciable asset. 

51C     If a deferred tax liability or asset arises from investment property that is measured 
using the fair value model in IAS 40, there is a rebuttable presumption that the carrying 
amount of the investment property will be recovered through sale. Accordingly, unless the 
presumption is rebutted, the measurement of the deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset 
shall reflect the tax consequences of recovering the carrying amount of the investment 
property entirely through sale. This presumption is rebutted if the investment property is 
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume 
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, 
rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, the requirements of paragraphs 51 
and 51A shall be followed. 

Example illustrating paragraph 51C 

An investment property has a cost of 100 and fair value of 150. It is measured using the 



fair value model in IAS 40. It comprises land with a cost of 40 and fair value of 60 and a 
building with a cost of 60 and fair value of 90. The land has an unlimited useful life. 

Cumulative depreciation of the building for tax purposes is 30. Unrealised changes in the 
fair value of the investment property do not affect taxable profit. If the investment 
property is sold for more than cost, the reversal of the cumulative tax depreciation of 30 
will be included in taxable profit and taxed at an ordinary tax rate of 30%. For sales 
proceeds in excess of cost, tax law specifies tax rates of 25% for assets held for less than 
two years and 20% for assets held for two years or more. 

Because the investment property is measured using the fair value model in IAS 40, there 
is a rebuttable presumption that the entity will recover the carrying amount of the 
investment property entirely through sale. If that presumption is not rebutted, the 
deferred tax reflects the tax consequences of recovering the carrying amount entirely 
through sale, even if the entity expects to earn rental income from the property before 
sale. 

The tax base of the land if it is sold is 40 and there is a taxable temporary difference 
of 20 (60 – 40). The tax base of the building if it is sold is 30 (60 – 30) and there is a 
taxable temporary difference of 60 (90 – 30). As a result, the total taxable temporary 
difference relating to the investment property is 80 (20 + 60). 

In accordance with paragraph 47, the tax rate is the rate expected to apply to the period 
when the investment property is realised. Thus, the resulting deferred tax liability is 
computed as follows, if the entity expects to sell the property after holding it for more 
than two years: 

  Taxable 
Temporary 
Difference 

 
 

Tax Rate 

 

Deferred Tax 
Liability 

Cumulative tax depreciation 30 30% 9 

Proceeds in excess of cost        50 20%        10 

Total 80   19 

  =====   ===== 

If the entity expects to sell the property after holding it for less than two years, the above 
computation would be amended to apply a tax rate of 25%, rather than 20%, to the 
proceeds in excess of cost. 

If, instead, the entity holds the building within a business model whose objective is to 
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the building over time, 
rather than through sale, this presumption would be rebutted for the building. However, 
the land is not depreciable. Therefore the presumption of recovery through sale would 
not be rebutted for the land. It follows that the deferred tax liability would reflect the tax 
consequences of recovering the carrying amount of the building through use and the 



carrying amount of the land through sale. 

The tax base of the building if it is used is 30 (60 – 30) and there is a taxable temporary 
difference of 60 (90 – 30), resulting in a deferred tax liability of 18 (60 at 30%). 

The tax base of the land if it is sold is 40 and there is a taxable temporary difference 
of 20 (60 – 40), resulting in a deferred tax liability of 4 (20 at 20%). 

As a result, if the presumption of recovery through sale is rebutted for the building, the 
deferred tax liability relating to the investment property is 22 (18 + 4). 

51D     The rebuttable presumption in paragraph 51C also applies when a deferred tax 
liability or a deferred tax asset arises from measuring investment property in a business 
combination if the entity will use the fair value model when subsequently measuring that 
investment property. 

51E     Paragraphs 51B–51D do not change the requirements to apply the principles in 
paragraphs 24–33 (deductible temporary differences) and paragraphs 34–36 (unused tax 
losses and unused tax credits) of this Standard when recognising and measuring deferred 
tax assets. 

52      [Moved and renumbered 51A] 

52A     In some jurisdictions, income taxes are payable at a higher or lower rate if part or 
all of the net profit or retained earnings is paid out as a dividend to shareholders of the 
entity. In some other jurisdictions, income taxes may be refundable or payable if part or 
all of the net profit or retained earnings is paid out as a dividend to shareholders of the 
entity. In these circumstances, current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the tax rate applicable to undistributed profits. 

52B     [Deleted] 

Example illustrating paragraphs 52A and 57A 

The following example deals with the measurement of current and deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for an entity in a jurisdiction where income taxes are payable at a higher rate on 
undistributed profits (50%) with an amount being refundable when profits are distributed. 
The tax rate on distributed profits is 35%. At the end of the reporting period, 31 
December 20X1, the entity does not recognise a liability for dividends proposed or 
declared after the reporting period. As a result, no dividends are recognised in the year 
20X1. Taxable income for 20X1 is 100,000. The net taxable temporary difference for the 
year 20X1 is 40,000. 

The entity recognises a current tax liability and a current income tax expense of 50,000. 
No asset is recognised for the amount potentially recoverable as a result of future 
dividends. The entity also recognises a deferred tax liability and deferred tax expense 
of 20,000 (40,000 at 50%) representing the income taxes that the entity will pay when it 
recovers or settles the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities based on the tax rate 



applicable to undistributed profits. 

Subsequently, on 15 March 20X2 the entity recognises dividends of 10,000 from 
previous operating profits as a liability. 

On 15 March 20X2, the entity recognises the recovery of income taxes of 1,500 (15% of 
the dividends recognised as a liability) as a current tax asset and as a reduction of 
current income tax expense for 20X2. 

53     Deferred tax assets and liabilities shall not be discounted. 

54      The reliable determination of deferred tax assets and liabilities on a discounted 
basis requires detailed scheduling of the timing of the reversal of each temporary 
difference. In many cases such scheduling is impracticable or highly complex. Therefore, 
it is inappropriate to require discounting of deferred tax assets and liabilities. To permit, 
but not to require, discounting would result in deferred tax assets and liabilities which 
would not be comparable between entities. Therefore, this Standard does not require or 
permit the discounting of deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

55      Temporary differences are determined by reference to the carrying amount of an 
asset or liability. This applies even where that carrying amount is itself determined on a 
discounted basis, for example in the case of retirement benefit obligations (see IAS 19 
Employee Benefits). 

56     The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset shall be reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period. An entity shall reduce the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
the benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised. Any such reduction shall 
be reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available. 

Recognition of current and deferred tax 

57      Accounting for the current and deferred tax effects of a transaction or other event is 
consistent with the accounting for the transaction or event itself. Paragraphs 58 to 68C 
implement this principle. 

57A     An entity shall recognise the income tax consequences of dividends as defined in 
IFRS 9 when it recognises a liability to pay a dividend. The income tax consequences of 
dividends are linked more directly to past transactions or events that generated 
distributable profits than to distributions to owners. Therefore, an entity shall recognise 
the income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive income 
or equity according to where the entity originally recognised those past transactions or 
events. 

Items recognised in profit or loss 



58     Current and deferred tax shall be recognised as income or an expense and included 
in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from: 

(a)     a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, outside 
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity (see 
paragraphs 61A–65); or 

(b)     a business combination (other than the acquisition by an investment entity, as 
defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, of a subsidiary that is required to 
be measured at fair value through profit or loss) (see paragraphs 66–68). 

59      Most deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arise where income or expense 
is included in accounting profit in one period, but is included in taxable profit (tax loss) in 
a different period. The resulting deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss. Examples are 
when: 

(a)     interest, royalty or dividend revenue is received in arrears and is included in 
accounting profit in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments, as relevant, but is included in taxable profit (tax loss) on a cash basis; and 

(b)     costs of intangible assets have been capitalised in accordance with IAS 38 and are 
being amortised in profit or loss, but were deducted for tax purposes when they were 
incurred. 

60      The carrying amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities may change even though 
there is no change in the amount of the related temporary differences. This can result, for 
example, from: 

(a)     a change in tax rates or tax laws; 

(b)     a reassessment of the recoverability of deferred tax assets; or 

(c)     a change in the expected manner of recovery of an asset. 

The resulting deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates 
to items previously recognised outside profit or loss (see paragraph 63). 

Items recognised outside profit or loss 

61     [Deleted] 

61A     Current tax and deferred tax shall be recognised outside profit or loss if the tax 
relates to items that are recognised, in the same or a different period, outside profit or loss. 
Therefore, current tax and deferred tax that relates to items that are recognised, in the 
same or a different period: 



(a)     in other comprehensive income, shall be recognised in other comprehensive income 
(see paragraph 62). 

(b)     directly in equity, shall be recognised directly in equity (see paragraph 62A). 

62      International Financial Reporting Standards require or permit particular items to be 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Examples of such items are: 

(a)     a change in carrying amount arising from the revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment (see IAS 16); and 

(b)     [deleted] 

(c)     exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial statements of a 
foreign operation (see IAS 21). 

(d)     [deleted] 

62A     International Financial Reporting Standards require or permit particular items to 
be credited or charged directly to equity. Examples of such items are: 

(a)     an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings resulting from either a 
change in accounting policy that is applied retrospectively or the correction of an error 
(see IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors); and 

(b)     amounts arising on initial recognition of the equity component of a compound 
financial instrument (see paragraph 23). 

63      In exceptional circumstances it may be difficult to determine the amount of current 
and deferred tax that relates to items recognised outside profit or loss (either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity). This may be the case, for example, when: 

(a)     there are graduated rates of income tax and it is impossible to determine the rate at 
which a specific component of taxable profit (tax loss) has been taxed; 

(b)     a change in the tax rate or other tax rules affects a deferred tax asset or liability 
relating (in whole or in part) to an item that was previously recognised outside profit or 
loss; or 

(c)     an entity determines that a deferred tax asset should be recognised, or should no 
longer be recognised in full, and the deferred tax asset relates (in whole or in part) to an 
item that was previously recognised outside profit or loss. 

In such cases, the current and deferred tax related to items that are recognised outside 
profit or loss are based on a reasonable pro rata allocation of the current and deferred tax 
of the entity in the tax jurisdiction concerned, or other method that achieves a more 
appropriate allocation in the circumstances. 



64      IAS 16 does not specify whether an entity should transfer each year from 
revaluation surplus to retained earnings an amount equal to the difference between the 
depreciation or amortisation on a revalued asset and the depreciation or amortisation 
based on the cost of that asset. If an entity makes such a transfer, the amount transferred is 
net of any related deferred tax. Similar considerations apply to transfers made on disposal 
of an item of property, plant or equipment. 

65      When an asset is revalued for tax purposes and that revaluation is related to an 
accounting revaluation of an earlier period, or to one that is expected to be carried out in a 
future period, the tax effects of both the asset revaluation and the adjustment of the tax 
base are recognised in other comprehensive income in the periods in which they occur. 
However, if the revaluation for tax purposes is not related to an accounting revaluation of 
an earlier period, or to one that is expected to be carried out in a future period, the tax 
effects of the adjustment of the tax base are recognised in profit or loss. 

65A     When an entity pays dividends to its shareholders, it may be required to pay a 
portion of the dividends to taxation authorities on behalf of shareholders. In many 
jurisdictions, this amount is referred to as a withholding tax. Such an amount paid or 
payable to taxation authorities is charged to equity as a part of the dividends. 

Deferred tax arising from a business combination 

66      As explained in paragraphs 19 and 26(c), temporary differences may arise in a 
business combination. In accordance with IFRS 3, an entity recognises any resulting 
deferred tax assets (to the extent that they meet the recognition criteria in paragraph 24) or 
deferred tax liabilities as identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date. 
Consequently, those deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities affect the amount of 
goodwill or the bargain purchase gain the entity recognises. However, in accordance with 
paragraph 15(a), an entity does not recognise deferred tax liabilities arising from the 
initial recognition of goodwill. 

67      As a result of a business combination, the probability of realising a pre-acquisition 
deferred tax asset of the acquirer could change. An acquirer may consider it probable that 
it will recover its own deferred tax asset that was not recognised before the business 
combination. For example, the acquirer may be able to utilise the benefit of its unused tax 
losses against the future taxable profit of the acquiree. Alternatively, as a result of the 
business combination it might no longer be probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the deferred tax asset to be recovered. In such cases, the acquirer recognises a change in 
the deferred tax asset in the period of the business combination, but does not include it as 
part of the accounting for the business combination. Therefore, the acquirer does not take 
it into account in measuring the goodwill or bargain purchase gain it recognises in the 
business combination. 

68      The potential benefit of the acquiree's income tax loss carryforwards or other 
deferred tax assets might not satisfy the criteria for separate recognition when a business 
combination is initially accounted for but might be realised subsequently. An entity shall 



recognise acquired deferred tax benefits that it realises after the business combination as 
follows: 

(a)     Acquired deferred tax benefits recognised within the measurement period that result 
from new information about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date 
shall be applied to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill related to that acquisition. 
If the carrying amount of that goodwill is zero, any remaining deferred tax benefits shall 
be recognised in profit or loss. 

(b)     All other acquired deferred tax benefits realised shall be recognised in profit or loss 
(or, if this Standard so requires, outside profit or loss). 

Current and deferred tax arising from share-based payment transactions 

68A     In some tax jurisdictions, an entity receives a tax deduction (ie an amount that is 
deductible in determining taxable profit) that relates to remuneration paid in shares, share 
options or other equity instruments of the entity. The amount of that tax deduction may 
differ from the related cumulative remuneration expense, and may arise in a later 
accounting period. For example, in some jurisdictions, an entity may recognise an 
expense for the consumption of employee services received as consideration for share 
options granted, in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, and not receive a tax 
deduction until the share options are exercised, with the measurement of the tax deduction 
based on the entity's share price at the date of exercise. 

68B     As with the research costs discussed in paragraphs 9 and 26(b) of this Standard, 
the difference between the tax base of the employee services received to date (being the 
amount the taxation authorities will permit as a deduction in future periods), and the 
carrying amount of nil, is a deductible temporary difference that results in a deferred tax 
asset. If the amount the taxation authorities will permit as a deduction in future periods is 
not known at the end of the period, it shall be estimated, based on information available at 
the end of the period. For example, if the amount that the taxation authorities will permit 
as a deduction in future periods is dependent upon the entity's share price at a future date, 
the measurement of the deductible temporary difference should be based on the entity's 
share price at the end of the period. 

68C     As noted in paragraph 68A, the amount of the tax deduction (or estimated future 
tax deduction, measured in accordance with paragraph 68B) may differ from the related 
cumulative remuneration expense. Paragraph 58 of the Standard requires that current and 
deferred tax should be recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss 
for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from (a) a transaction or event that is 
recognised, in the same or a different period, outside profit or loss, or (b) a business 
combination (other than the acquisition by an investment entity of a subsidiary that is 
required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss). If the amount of the tax 
deduction (or estimated future tax deduction) exceeds the amount of the related 
cumulative remuneration expense, this indicates that the tax deduction relates not only to 
remuneration expense but also to an equity item. In this situation, the excess of the 
associated current or deferred tax should be recognised directly in equity. 



Presentation 

Tax assets and tax liabilities 

69–70     [Deleted] 

Offset 

71     An entity shall offset current tax assets and current tax liabilities if, and only if, the 
entity: 

(a)     has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and 

(b)     intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

72      Although current tax assets and liabilities are separately recognised and measured 
they are offset in the statement of financial position subject to criteria similar to those 
established for financial instruments in IAS 32. An entity will normally have a legally 
enforceable right to set off a current tax asset against a current tax liability when they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the taxation authority 
permits the entity to make or receive a single net payment. 

73      In consolidated financial statements, a current tax asset of one entity in a group is 
offset against a current tax liability of another entity in the group if, and only if, the 
entities concerned have a legally enforceable right to make or receive a single net 
payment and the entities intend to make or receive such a net payment or to recover the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

74     An entity shall offset deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if, and only if: 

(a)     the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities; and 

(b)     the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority on either: 

(i)     the same taxable entity; or 

(ii)     different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and 
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in 
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are 
expected to be settled or recovered. 

75      To avoid the need for detailed scheduling of the timing of the reversal of each 
temporary difference, this Standard requires an entity to set off a deferred tax asset against 
a deferred tax liability of the same taxable entity if, and only if, they relate to income 



taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the entity has a legally enforceable right to 
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities. 

76      In rare circumstances, an entity may have a legally enforceable right of set-off, and 
an intention to settle net, for some periods but not for others. In such rare circumstances, 
detailed scheduling may be required to establish reliably whether the deferred tax liability 
of one taxable entity will result in increased tax payments in the same period in which a 
deferred tax asset of another taxable entity will result in decreased payments by that 
second taxable entity. 

Tax expense 

Tax expense (income) related to profit or loss from ordinary activities 

77     The tax expense (income) related to profit or loss from ordinary activities shall be 
presented as part of profit or loss in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 

77A     [Deleted] 

Exchange differences on deferred foreign tax liabilities or assets 

78      IAS 21 requires certain exchange differences to be recognised as income or expense 
but does not specify where such differences should be presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income. Accordingly, where exchange differences on deferred foreign tax 
liabilities or assets are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, such 
differences may be classified as deferred tax expense (income) if that presentation is 
considered to be the most useful to financial statement users. 

Disclosure 

79     The major components of tax expense (income) shall be disclosed separately. 

80      Components of tax expense (income) may include: 

(a)     current tax expense (income); 

(b)     any adjustments recognised in the period for current tax of prior periods; 

(c)     the amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating to the origination and reversal 
of temporary differences; 

(d)     the amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating to changes in tax rates or the 
imposition of new taxes; 

(e)     the amount of the benefit arising from a previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit 
or temporary difference of a prior period that is used to reduce current tax expense; 



(f)     the amount of the benefit from a previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or 
temporary difference of a prior period that is used to reduce deferred tax expense; 

(g)     deferred tax expense arising from the write-down, or reversal of a previous write-
down, of a deferred tax asset in accordance with paragraph 56; and 

(h)     the amount of tax expense (income) relating to those changes in accounting policies 
and errors that are included in profit or loss in accordance with IAS 8, because they 
cannot be accounted for retrospectively. 

81     The following shall also be disclosed separately: 

(a)     the aggregate current and deferred tax relating to items that are charged or credited 
directly to equity (see paragraph 62A); 

(ab) the amount of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income 
(see paragraph 62 and IAS 1 (as revised in 2007)); 

(b)     [deleted] 

(c)     an explanation of the relationship between tax expense (income) and accounting 
profit in either or both of the following forms: 

(i)     a numerical reconciliation between tax expense (income) and the product of 
accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate(s), disclosing also the basis on 
which the applicable tax rate(s) is (are) computed; or 

(ii)     a numerical reconciliation between the average effective tax rate and the applicable 
tax rate, disclosing also the basis on which the applicable tax rate is computed; 

(d)     an explanation of changes in the applicable tax rate(s) compared to the previous 
accounting period; 

(e)     the amount (and expiry date, if any) of deductible temporary differences, unused tax 
losses, and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is recognised in the 
statement of financial position; 

(f)     the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, branches and associates and interests in joint arrangements, for which 
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised (see paragraph 39); 

(g)     in respect of each type of temporary difference, and in respect of each type of 
unused tax losses and unused tax credits: 

(i)     the amount of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of 
financial position for each period presented; 



(ii)     the amount of the deferred tax income or expense recognised in profit or loss, if this 
is not apparent from the changes in the amounts recognised in the statement of financial 
position; 

(h)     in respect of discontinued operations, the tax expense relating to: 

(i)     the gain or loss on discontinuance; and 

(ii)     the profit or loss from the ordinary activities of the discontinued operation for the 
period, together with the corresponding amounts for each prior period presented; 

(i)     the amount of income tax consequences of dividends to shareholders of the entity 
that were proposed or declared before the financial statements were authorised for issue, 
but are not recognised as a liability in the financial statements; 

(j)     if a business combination in which the entity is the acquirer causes a change in the 
amount recognised for its pre-acquisition deferred tax asset (see paragraph 67), the 
amount of that change; and 

(k)     if the deferred tax benefits acquired in a business combination are not recognised at 
the acquisition date but are recognised after the acquisition date (see paragraph 68), a 
description of the event or change in circumstances that caused the deferred tax benefits 
to be recognised. 

82     An entity shall disclose the amount of a deferred tax asset and the nature of the 
evidence supporting its recognition, when: 

(a)     the utilisation of the deferred tax asset is dependent on future taxable profits in 
excess of the profits arising from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences; 
and 

(b)     the entity has suffered a loss in either the current or preceding period in the tax 
jurisdiction to which the deferred tax asset relates. 

82A     In the circumstances described in paragraph 52A, an entity shall disclose the 
nature of the potential income tax consequences that would result from the payment of 
dividends to its shareholders. In addition, the entity shall disclose the amounts of the 
potential income tax consequences practicably determinable and whether there are any 
potential income tax consequences not practicably determinable. 

83      [Deleted] 

84      The disclosures required by paragraph 81(c) enable users of financial statements to 
understand whether the relationship between tax expense (income) and accounting profit 
is unusual and to understand the significant factors that could affect that relationship in 
the future. The relationship between tax expense (income) and accounting profit may be 
affected by such factors as revenue that is exempt from taxation, expenses that are not 



deductible in determining taxable profit (tax loss), the effect of tax losses and the effect of 
foreign tax rates. 

85      In explaining the relationship between tax expense (income) and accounting profit, 
an entity uses an applicable tax rate that provides the most meaningful information to the 
users of its financial statements. Often, the most meaningful rate is the domestic rate of 
tax in the country in which the entity is domiciled, aggregating the tax rate applied for 
national taxes with the rates applied for any local taxes which are computed on a 
substantially similar level of taxable profit (tax loss). However, for an entity operating in 
several jurisdictions, it may be more meaningful to aggregate separate reconciliations 
prepared using the domestic rate in each individual jurisdiction. The following example 
illustrates how the selection of the applicable tax rate affects the presentation of the 
numerical reconciliation. 

Example illustrating paragraph 85 

In 19X2, an entity has accounting profit in its own jurisdiction (country A) of 1,500 
(19X1: 2,000) and in country B of 1,500 (19X1: 500). The tax rate is 30% in country A 
and 20% in country B. In country A, expenses of 100 (19X1: 200) are not deductible for 
tax purposes. 

The following is an example of a reconciliation to the domestic tax rate. 

  19X1 19X2 

Accounting profit 2,500 3,000 

  ===== ===== 

Tax at the domestic rate of 30% 750 900 

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible for tax purposes 60 30 

Effect of lower tax rates in country B     (50)   (150) 

Tax expense 760 780 

  ===== ===== 

The following is an example of a reconciliation prepared by aggregating separate 
reconciliations for each national jurisdiction. Under this method, the effect of differences 
between the reporting entity's own domestic tax rate and the domestic tax rate in other 
jurisdictions does not appear as a separate item in the reconciliation. An entity may need 
to discuss the effect of significant changes in either tax rates, or the mix of profits earned 
in different jurisdictions, in order to explain changes in the applicable tax rate(s), as 
required by paragraph 81(d). 

Accounting profit 2,500 3,000 

  ===== ===== 

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits in the country 700 750 



concerned 

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible for tax purposes        60        30 

Tax expense 760 780 

  ===== ===== 

86      The average effective tax rate is the tax expense (income) divided by the accounting 
profit. 

87      It would often be impracticable to compute the amount of unrecognised deferred 
tax liabilities arising from investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates and 
interests in joint arrangements (see paragraph 39). Therefore, this Standard requires an 
entity to disclose the aggregate amount of the underlying temporary differences but does 
not require disclosure of the deferred tax liabilities. Nevertheless, where practicable, 
entities are encouraged to disclose the amounts of the unrecognised deferred tax liabilities 
because financial statement users may find such information useful. 

87A     Paragraph 82A requires an entity to disclose the nature of the potential income tax 
consequences that would result from the payment of dividends to its shareholders. An 
entity discloses the important features of the income tax systems and the factors that will 
affect the amount of the potential income tax consequences of dividends. 

87B     It would sometimes not be practicable to compute the total amount of the potential 
income tax consequences that would result from the payment of dividends to 
shareholders. This may be the case, for example, where an entity has a large number of 
foreign subsidiaries. However, even in such circumstances, some portions of the total 
amount may be easily determinable. For example, in a consolidated group, a parent and 
some of its subsidiaries may have paid income taxes at a higher rate on undistributed 
profits and be aware of the amount that would be refunded on the payment of future 
dividends to shareholders from consolidated retained earnings. In this case, that 
refundable amount is disclosed. If applicable, the entity also discloses that there are 
additional potential income tax consequences not practicably determinable. In the parent's 
separate financial statements, if any, the disclosure of the potential income tax 
consequences relates to the parent's retained earnings. 

87C     An entity required to provide the disclosures in paragraph 82A may also be 
required to provide disclosures related to temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates or interests in joint arrangements. In 
such cases, an entity considers this in determining the information to be disclosed under 
paragraph 82A. For example, an entity may be required to disclose the aggregate amount 
of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which no 
deferred tax liabilities have been recognised (see paragraph 81(f)). If it is impracticable to 
compute the amounts of unrecognised deferred tax liabilities (see paragraph 87) there may 
be amounts of potential income tax consequences of dividends not practicably 
determinable related to these subsidiaries. 



88      An entity discloses any tax-related contingent liabilities and contingent assets in 
accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets may arise, for example, from unresolved 
disputes with the taxation authorities. Similarly, where changes in tax rates or tax laws are 
enacted or announced after the reporting period, an entity discloses any significant effect 
of those changes on its current and deferred tax assets and liabilities (see IAS 10 Events 
after the Reporting Period). 

Effective date 

89      This Standard becomes operative for financial statements covering periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 1998, except as specified in paragraph 91. If an entity 
applies this Standard for financial statements covering periods beginning before 1 January 
1998, the entity shall disclose the fact it has applied this Standard instead of IAS 12 
Accounting for Taxes on Income, approved in 1979. 

90      This Standard supersedes IAS 12 Accounting for Taxes on Income, approved 
in 1979. 

91      Paragraphs 52A, 52B, 65A, 81(i), 82A, 87A, 87B, 87C and the deletion of 
paragraphs 3 and 50 become operative for annual financial statements 3 covering periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2001. Earlier adoption is encouraged. If earlier adoption 
affects the financial statements, an entity shall disclose that fact. 

92      IAS 1 (as revised in 2007) amended the terminology used throughout IFRSs. In 
addition it amended paragraphs 23, 52, 58, 60, 62, 63, 65, 68C, 77 and 81, deleted 
paragraph 61 and added paragraphs 61A, 62A and 77A. An entity shall apply those 
amendments for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. If an entity applies 
IAS 1 (revised 2007) for an earlier period, the amendments shall be applied for that earlier 
period. 

93      Paragraph 68 shall be applied prospectively from the effective date of IFRS 3 (as 
revised in 2008) to the recognition of deferred tax assets acquired in business 
combinations. 

94      Therefore, entities shall not adjust the accounting for prior business combinations if 
tax benefits failed to satisfy the criteria for separate recognition as of the acquisition date 
and are recognised after the acquisition date, unless the benefits are recognised within the 
measurement period and result from new information about facts and circumstances that 
existed at the acquisition date. Other tax benefits recognised shall be recognised in profit 
or loss (or, if this Standard so requires, outside profit or loss). 

95      IFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) amended paragraphs 21 and 67 and added 
paragraphs 32A and 81(j) and (k). An entity shall apply those amendments for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. If an entity applies IFRS 3 (revised 2008) for 
an earlier period, the amendments shall also be applied for that earlier period. 

96      [Deleted] 



97      [Deleted] 

98      Paragraph 52 was renumbered as 51A, paragraph 10 and the examples following 
paragraph 51A were amended, and paragraphs 51B and 51C and the following example 
and paragraphs 51D, 51E and 99 were added by Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying 
Assets, issued in December 2010. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity 
applies the amendments for an earlier period, it shall disclose that fact. 

98A     IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, issued in May 2011, amended paragraphs 2, 15, 
18(e), 24, 38, 39, 43–45, 81(f), 87 and 87C. An entity shall apply those amendments when 
it applies IFRS 11. 

98B     Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (Amendments to IAS 1), 
issued in June 2011, amended paragraph 77 and deleted paragraph 77A. An entity shall 
apply those amendments when it applies IAS 1 as amended in June 2011. 

98C     Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27), issued in 
October 2012, amended paragraphs 58 and 68C. An entity shall apply those amendments 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. Earlier application of Investment 
Entities is permitted. If an entity applies those amendments earlier it shall also apply all 
amendments included in Investment Entities at the same time. 

98D     [Deleted] 

98E     IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, issued in May 2014, amended 
paragraph 59. An entity shall apply that amendment when it applies IFRS 15. 

98F     IFRS 9, as issued in July 2014, amended paragraph 20 and deleted paragraphs 96, 
97 and 98D. An entity shall apply those amendments when it applies IFRS 9. 

98G     IFRS 16, issued in January 2016, amended paragraph 20. An entity shall apply that 
amendment when it applies IFRS 16. 

98H     Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to IAS 
12), issued in January 2016, amended paragraph 29 and added paragraphs 27A, 29A and 
the example following paragraph 26. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity 
applies those amendments for an earlier period, it shall disclose that fact. An entity shall 
apply those amendments retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. However, on initial application of the 
amendment, the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may be 
recognised in opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, as 
appropriate), without allocating the change between opening retained earnings and other 
components of equity. If an entity applies this relief, it shall disclose that fact. 

98I     Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle, issued in December 
2017, added paragraph 57A and deleted paragraph 52B. An entity shall apply those 



amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier 
application is permitted. If an entity applies those amendments earlier, it shall disclose 
that fact. When an entity first applies those amendments, it shall apply them to the income 
tax consequences of dividends recognised on or after the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period. 

Withdrawal of SIC-21 

99      The amendments made by Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets, issued in 
December 2010, supersede SIC Interpretation 21 Income Taxes — Recovery of Revalued 
Non-Depreciable Assets. 

 

 

Footnotes 
1. When an entity has not adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, this reference shall read 
"IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement". 

3 Paragraph 91 refers to 'annual financial statements' in line with more explicit language 
for writing effective dates adopted in 1998. Paragraph 89 refers to ‘financial statements'. 
[Footnotes 1 and 2 not used.] 
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Objective 

1       This Standard prescribes the basis for presentation of general purpose financial 
statements to ensure comparability both with the entity's financial statements of previous 
periods and with the financial statements of other entities. It sets out overall requirements 
for the presentation of financial statements, guidelines for their structure and minimum 
requirements for their content. 

Scope 



2     An entity shall apply this Standard in preparing and presenting general purpose 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs). 

3       Other IFRSs set out the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements for 
specific transactions and other events. 

4       This Standard does not apply to the structure and content of condensed interim 
financial statements prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. 
However, paragraphs 15–35 apply to such financial statements. This Standard applies 
equally to all entities, including those that present consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and those that present 
separate financial statements in accordance with IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements. 

5       This Standard uses terminology that is suitable for profit-oriented entities, including 
public sector business entities. If entities with not-for-profit activities in the private sector 
or the public sector apply this Standard, they may need to amend the descriptions used for 
particular line items in the financial statements and for the financial statements 
themselves. 

6       Similarly, entities that do not have equity as defined in IAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation (eg some mutual funds) and entities whose share capital is not 
equity (eg some co-operative entities) may need to adapt the financial statement 
presentation of members' or unitholders' interests. 

Definitions 

7     The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified: 

     General purpose financial statements (referred to as 'financial statements') are those 
intended to meet the needs of users who are not in a position to require an entity to 
prepare reports tailored to their particular information needs. 

     Impracticable Applying a requirement is impracticable when the entity cannot apply it 
after making every reasonable effort to do so. 

     International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) are Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). They 
comprise: 

(a)     International Financial Reporting Standards; 

(b)     International Accounting Standards; 

(c)     IFRIC Interpretations; and 

(d)     SIC Interpretations. 1 



     Material: 

     Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably 
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide 
financial information about a specific reporting entity. 

Materiality depends on the nature or magnitude of information, or both. An entity 
assesses whether information, either individually or in combination with other 
information, is material in the context of its financial statements taken as a whole. 

Information is obscured if it is communicated in a way that would have a similar effect 
for primary users of financial statements to omitting or misstating that information. The 
following are examples of circumstances that may result in material information being 
obscured: 

(a)     information regarding a material item, transaction or other event is disclosed in the 
financial statements but the language used is vague or unclear; 

(b)     information regarding a material item, transaction or other event is scattered 
throughout the financial statements; 

(c)     dissimilar items, transactions or other events are inappropriately aggregated; 

(d)     similar items, transactions or other events are inappropriately disaggregated; and 

(e)     the understandability of the financial statements is reduced as a result of material 
information being hidden by immaterial information to the extent that a primary user is 
unable to determine what information is material. 

Assessing whether information could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made 
by the primary users of a specific reporting entity's general purpose financial statements 
requires an entity to consider the characteristics of those users while also considering the 
entity's own circumstances.  

Many existing and potential investors, lenders and other creditors cannot require 
reporting entities to provide information directly to them and must rely on general 
purpose financial statements for much of the financial information they need. 
Consequently, they are the primary users to whom general purpose financial statements 
are directed. Financial statements are prepared for users who have a reasonable 
knowledge of business and economic activities and who review and analyse the 
information diligently. At times, even well-informed and diligent users may need to seek 
the aid of an adviser to understand information about complex economic phenomena. 

     Notes contain information in addition to that presented in the statement of financial 
position, statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows. Notes provide narrative descriptions or 



disaggregations of items presented in those statements and information about items that 
do not qualify for recognition in those statements. 

     Other comprehensive income comprises items of income and expense (including 
reclassification adjustments) that are not recognised in profit or loss as required or 
permitted by other IFRSs. 

The components of other comprehensive income include: 

(a)     changes in revaluation surplus (see IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 
38 Intangible Assets); 

(b)     remeasurements of defined benefit plans (see IAS 19 Employee Benefits); 

(c)     gains and losses arising from translating the financial statements of a foreign 
operation (see IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates); 

(d)     gains and losses from investments in equity instruments designated at fair value 
through other comprehensive income in accordance with paragraph 5.7.5 of IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments; 

(da) gains and losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income in accordance with paragraph 4.1.2A of IFRS 9. 

(e)     the effective portion of gains and losses on hedging instruments in a cash flow 
hedge and the gains and losses on hedging instruments that hedge investments in equity 
instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income in accordance 
with paragraph 5.7.5 of IFRS 9 (see Chapter 6 of IFRS 9); 

(f)     for particular liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the amount 
of the change in fair value that is attributable to changes in the liability's credit risk (see 
paragraph 5.7.7 of IFRS 9); 

(g)     changes in the value of the time value of options when separating the intrinsic 
value and time value of an option contract and designating as the hedging instrument only 
the changes in the intrinsic value (see Chapter 6 of IFRS 9); 

(h)     changes in the value of the forward elements of forward contracts when separating 
the forward element and spot element of a forward contract and designating as the 
hedging instrument only the changes in the spot element, and changes in the value of the 
foreign currency basis spread of a financial instrument when excluding it from the 
designation of that financial instrument as the hedging instrument (see Chapter 6 of IFRS 
9). 

     Owners are holders of instruments classified as equity. 

     Profit or loss is the total of income less expenses, excluding the components of other 
comprehensive income. 



     Reclassification adjustments are amounts reclassified to profit or loss in the current 
period that were recognised in other comprehensive income in the current or previous 
periods. 

     Total comprehensive income is the change in equity during a period resulting from 
transactions and other events, other than those changes resulting from transactions with 
owners in their capacity as owners. 

Total comprehensive income comprises all components of 'profit or loss' and of 'other 
comprehensive income'. 

8       Although this Standard uses the terms 'other comprehensive income', 'profit or loss' 
and 'total comprehensive income', an entity may use other terms to describe the totals as 
long as the meaning is clear. For example, an entity may use the term 'net income' to 
describe profit or loss. 

8A     The following terms are described in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
and are used in this Standard with the meaning specified in IAS 32: 

(a)     puttable financial instrument classified as an equity instrument (described in 
paragraphs 16A and 16B of IAS 32) 

(b)     an instrument that imposes on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a 
pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation and is classified as an 
equity instrument (described in paragraphs 16C and 16D of IAS 32). 

Financial statements 

Purpose of financial statements 

9       Financial statements are a structured representation of the financial position and 
financial performance of an entity. The objective of financial statements is to provide 
information about the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an 
entity that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic decisions. Financial 
statements also show the results of the management's stewardship of the resources 
entrusted to it. To meet this objective, financial statements provide information about an 
entity's: 

(a)     assets; 

(b)     liabilities; 

(c)     equity; 

(d)     income and expenses, including gains and losses; 

(e)     contributions by and distributions to owners in their capacity as owners; and 



(f)     cash flows. 

This information, along with other information in the notes, assists users of financial 
statements in predicting the entity's future cash flows and, in particular, their timing and 
certainty. 

Complete set of financial statements 

10     A complete set of financial statements comprises: 

(a)     a statement of financial position as at the end of the period; 

(b)     a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period; 

(c)     a statement of changes in equity for the period; 

(d)     a statement of cash flows for the period; 

(e)     notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information; 

(ea) comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in 
paragraphs 38 and 38A; and 

(f)     a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when 
an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective 
restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its 
financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 40A–40D. 

     An entity may use titles for the statements other than those used in this Standard. For 
example, an entity may use the title 'statement of comprehensive income' instead of 
'statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income'. 

10A     An entity may present a single statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, with profit or loss and other comprehensive income presented in two sections. 
The sections shall be presented together, with the profit or loss section presented first 
followed directly by the other comprehensive income section. An entity may present the 
profit or loss section in a separate statement of profit or loss. If so, the separate statement 
of profit or loss shall immediately precede the statement presenting comprehensive 
income, which shall begin with profit or loss. 

11     An entity shall present with equal prominence all of the financial statements in a 
complete set of financial statements. 

12      [Deleted] 

13      Many entities present, outside the financial statements, a financial review by 
management that describes and explains the main features of the entity's financial 



performance and financial position, and the principal uncertainties it faces. Such a report 
may include a review of: 

(a)     the main factors and influences determining financial performance, including 
changes in the environment in which the entity operates, the entity's response to those 
changes and their effect, and the entity's policy for investment to maintain and enhance 
financial performance, including its dividend policy; 

(b)     the entity's sources of funding and its targeted ratio of liabilities to equity; and 

(c)     the entity's resources not recognised in the statement of financial position in 
accordance with IFRSs. 

14      Many entities also present, outside the financial statements, reports and statements 
such as environmental reports and value added statements, particularly in industries in 
which environmental factors are significant and when employees are regarded as an 
important user group. Reports and statements presented outside financial statements are 
outside the scope of IFRSs. 

General features 

Fair presentation and compliance with IFRSs 

15     Financial statements shall present fairly the financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows of an entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful 
representation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in accordance 
with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set 
out in the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework). The 
application of IFRSs, with additional disclosure when necessary, is presumed to result in 
financial statements that achieve a fair presentation. 

16     An entity whose financial statements comply with IFRSs shall make an explicit and 
unreserved statement of such compliance in the notes. An entity shall not describe 
financial statements as complying with IFRSs unless they comply with all the 
requirements of IFRSs. 

17      In virtually all circumstances, an entity achieves a fair presentation by compliance 
with applicable IFRSs. A fair presentation also requires an entity: 

(a)     to select and apply accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. IAS 8 sets out a hierarchy of 
authoritative guidance that management considers in the absence of an IFRS that 
specifically applies to an item. 

(b)     to present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides 
relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information. 



(c)     to provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements 
in IFRSs is insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, 
other events and conditions on the entity's financial position and financial performance. 

18     An entity cannot rectify inappropriate accounting policies either by disclosure of the 
accounting policies used or by notes or explanatory material. 

19     In the extremely rare circumstances in which management concludes that 
compliance with a requirement in an IFRS would be so misleading that it would conflict 
with the objective of financial statements set out in the Conceptual Framework, the entity 
shall depart from that requirement in the manner set out in paragraph 20 if the relevant 
regulatory framework requires, or otherwise does not prohibit, such a departure. 

20     When an entity departs from a requirement of an IFRS in accordance with 
paragraph 19, it shall disclose: 

(a)     that management has concluded that the financial statements present fairly the 
entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows; 

(b)     that it has complied with applicable IFRSs, except that it has departed from a 
particular requirement to achieve a fair presentation; 

(c)     the title of the IFRS from which the entity has departed, the nature of the departure, 
including the treatment that the IFRS would require, the reason why that treatment would 
be so misleading in the circumstances that it would conflict with the objective of financial 
statements set out in the Conceptual Framework, and the treatment adopted; and 

(d)     for each period presented, the financial effect of the departure on each item in the 
financial statements that would have been reported in complying with the requirement. 

21     When an entity has departed from a requirement of an IFRS in a prior period, and 
that departure affects the amounts recognised in the financial statements for the current 
period, it shall make the disclosures set out in paragraph 20(c) and (d). 

22      Paragraph 21 applies, for example, when an entity departed in a prior period from a 
requirement in an IFRS for the measurement of assets or liabilities and that departure 
affects the measurement of changes in assets and liabilities recognised in the current 
period's financial statements. 

23     In the extremely rare circumstances in which management concludes that 
compliance with a requirement in an IFRS would be so misleading that it would 
conflict with the objective of financial statements set out in the Conceptual 
Framework, but the relevant regulatory framework prohibits departure from the 
requirement, the entity shall, to the maximum extent possible, reduce the perceived 
misleading aspects of compliance by disclosing: 

(a)     the title of the IFRS in question, the nature of the requirement, and the reason 
why management has concluded that complying with that requirement is so 



misleading in the circumstances that it conflicts with the objective of financial 
statements set out in the Conceptual Framework; and 

(b)     for each period presented, the adjustments to each item in the financial 
statements that management has concluded would be necessary to achieve a fair 
presentation. 

24      For the purpose of paragraphs 19–23, an item of information would conflict with 
the objective of financial statements when it does not represent faithfully the transactions, 
other events and conditions that it either purports to represent or could reasonably be 
expected to represent and, consequently, it would be likely to influence economic 
decisions made by users of financial statements. When assessing whether complying with 
a specific requirement in an IFRS would be so misleading that it would conflict with the 
objective of financial statements set out in the Conceptual Framework, management 
considers: 

(a)     why the objective of financial statements is not achieved in the particular 
circumstances; and 

(b)     how the entity's circumstances differ from those of other entities that comply with 
the requirement. If other entities in similar circumstances comply with the requirement, 
there is a rebuttable presumption that the entity's compliance with the requirement would 
not be so misleading that it would conflict with the objective of financial statements set 
out in the Conceptual Framework. 

Going concern 

25     When preparing financial statements, management shall make an assessment of an 
entity's ability to continue as a going concern. An entity shall prepare financial statements 
on a going concern basis unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to 
cease trading, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. When management is aware, in 
making its assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt upon the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the entity 
shall disclose those uncertainties. When an entity does not prepare financial statements 
on a going concern basis, it shall disclose that fact, together with the basis on which it 
prepared the financial statements and the reason why the entity is not regarded as a going 
concern. 

26      In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, management 
takes into account all available information about the future, which is at least, but is not 
limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The degree of 
consideration depends on the facts in each case. When an entity has a history of profitable 
operations and ready access to financial resources, the entity may reach a conclusion that 
the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate without detailed analysis. In other 
cases, management may need to consider a wide range of factors relating to current and 
expected profitability, debt repayment schedules and potential sources of replacement 
financing before it can satisfy itself that the going concern basis is appropriate. 



Accrual basis of accounting 

27     An entity shall prepare its financial statements, except for cash flow information, 
using the accrual basis of accounting. 

28      When the accrual basis of accounting is used, an entity recognises items as assets, 
liabilities, equity, income and expenses (the elements of financial statements) when they 
satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria for those elements in the Conceptual 
Framework. 

Materiality and aggregation 

29     An entity shall present separately each material class of similar items. An entity 
shall present separately items of a dissimilar nature or function unless they are 
immaterial. 

30      Financial statements result from processing large numbers of transactions or other 
events that are aggregated into classes according to their nature or function. The final 
stage in the process of aggregation and classification is the presentation of condensed and 
classified data, which form line items in the financial statements. If a line item is not 
individually material, it is aggregated with other items either in those statements or in the 
notes. An item that is not sufficiently material to warrant separate presentation in those 
statements may warrant separate presentation in the notes. 

30A     When applying this and other IFRSs an entity shall decide, taking into 
consideration all relevant facts and circumstances, how it aggregates information in the 
financial statements, which include the notes. An entity shall not reduce the 
understandability of its financial statements by obscuring material information with 
immaterial information or by aggregating material items that have different natures or 
functions. 

31      Some IFRSs specify information that is required to be included in the financial 
statements, which include the notes. An entity need not provide a specific disclosure 
required by an IFRS if the information resulting from that disclosure is not material. This 
is the case even if the IFRS contains a list of specific requirements or describes them as 
minimum requirements. An entity shall also consider whether to provide additional 
disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to 
enable users of financial statements to understand the impact of particular transactions, 
other events and conditions on the entity's financial position and financial performance. 

Offsetting 

32     An entity shall not offset assets and liabilities or income and expenses, unless 
required or permitted by an IFRS. 

33      An entity reports separately both assets and liabilities, and income and expenses. 
Offsetting in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or 
financial position, except when offsetting reflects the substance of the transaction or other 



event, detracts from the ability of users both to understand the transactions, other events 
and conditions that have occurred and to assess the entity's future cash flows. Measuring 
assets net of valuation allowances — for example, obsolescence allowances on 
inventories and doubtful debts allowances on receivables — is not offsetting. 

34      IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers requires an entity to measure 
revenue from contracts with customers at the amount of consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services. For 
example, the amount of revenue recognised reflects any trade discounts and volume 
rebates the entity allows. An entity undertakes, in the course of its ordinary activities, 
other transactions that do not generate revenue but are incidental to the main revenue-
generating activities. An entity presents the results of such transactions, when this 
presentation reflects the substance of the transaction or other event, by netting any 
income with related expenses arising on the same transaction. For example: 

(a)     an entity presents gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets, including 
investments and operating assets, by deducting from the amount of consideration on 
disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling expenses; and 

(b)     an entity may net expenditure related to a provision that is recognised in 
accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and 
reimbursed under a contractual arrangement with a third party (for example, a supplier's 
warranty agreement) against the related reimbursement. 

35      In addition, an entity presents on a net basis gains and losses arising from a group 
of similar transactions, for example, foreign exchange gains and losses or gains and 
losses arising on financial instruments held for trading. However, an entity presents such 
gains and losses separately if they are material. 

Frequency of reporting 

36     An entity shall present a complete set of financial statements (including 
comparative information) at least annually. When an entity changes the end of its 
reporting period and presents financial statements for a period longer or shorter than one 
year, an entity shall disclose, in addition to the period covered by the financial 
statements: 

(a)     the reason for using a longer or shorter period, and 

(b)     the fact that amounts presented in the financial statements are not entirely 
comparable. 

37      Normally, an entity consistently prepares financial statements for a one-year 
period. However, for practical reasons, some entities prefer to report, for example, for a 
52-week period. This Standard does not preclude this practice. 

Comparative information 



Minimum comparative information 

38     Except when IFRSs permit or require otherwise, an entity shall present comparative 
information in respect of the preceding period for all amounts reported in the current 
period's financial statements. An entity shall include comparative information for 
narrative and descriptive information if it is relevant to understanding the current period's 
financial statements. 

38A     An entity shall present, as a minimum, two statements of financial position, two 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, two separate statements of 
profit or loss (if presented), two statements of cash flows and two statements of changes 
in equity, and related notes. 

38B     In some cases, narrative information provided in the financial statements for the 
preceding period(s) continues to be relevant in the current period. For example, an entity 
discloses in the current period details of a legal dispute, the outcome of which was 
uncertain at the end of the preceding period and is yet to be resolved. Users may benefit 
from the disclosure of information that the uncertainty existed at the end of the preceding 
period and from the disclosure of information about the steps that have been taken during 
the period to resolve the uncertainty. 

Additional comparative information 

38C     An entity may present comparative information in addition to the minimum 
comparative financial statements required by IFRSs, as long as that information is 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs. This comparative information may consist of one or 
more statements referred to in paragraph 10, but need not comprise a complete set of 
financial statements. When this is the case, the entity shall present related note 
information for those additional statements. 

38D     For example, an entity may present a third statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income (thereby presenting the current period, the preceding period and 
one additional comparative period). However, the entity is not required to present a third 
statement of financial position, a third statement of cash flows or a third statement of 
changes in equity (ie an additional financial statement comparative). The entity is 
required to present, in the notes to the financial statements, the comparative information 
related to that additional statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

39      [Deleted] 

40      [Deleted] 

Change in accounting policy, retrospective restatement or reclassification 

40A     An entity shall present a third statement of financial position as at the beginning 
of the preceding period in addition to the minimum comparative financial statements 
required in paragraph 38A if: 



(a)     it applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement of 
items in its financial statements or reclassifies items in its financial statements; and 

(b)     the retrospective application, retrospective restatement or the reclassification has a 
material effect on the information in the statement of financial position at the beginning 
of the preceding period. 

40B     In the circumstances described in paragraph 40A, an entity shall present three 
statements of financial position as at: 

(a)     the end of the current period; 

(b)     the end of the preceding period; and 

(c)     the beginning of the preceding period. 

40C     When an entity is required to present an additional statement of financial position 
in accordance with paragraph 40A, it must disclose the information required by 
paragraphs 41–44 and IAS 8. However, it need not present the related notes to the 
opening statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period. 

40D     The date of that opening statement of financial position shall be as at the 
beginning of the preceding period regardless of whether an entity's financial statements 
present comparative information for earlier periods (as permitted in paragraph 38C). 

41     If an entity changes the presentation or classification of items in its financial 
statements, it shall reclassify comparative amounts unless reclassification is 
impracticable. When an entity reclassifies comparative amounts, it shall disclose 
(including as at the beginning of the preceding period): 

(a)     the nature of the reclassification; 

(b)     the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified; and 

(c)     the reason for the reclassification. 

42     When it is impracticable to reclassify comparative amounts, an entity shall disclose: 

(a)     the reason for not reclassifying the amounts, and 

(b)     the nature of the adjustments that would have been made if the amounts had been 
reclassified. 

43      Enhancing the inter-period comparability of information assists users in making 
economic decisions, especially by allowing the assessment of trends in financial 
information for predictive purposes. In some circumstances, it is impracticable to 
reclassify comparative information for a particular prior period to achieve comparability 
with the current period. For example, an entity may not have collected data in the prior 



period(s) in a way that allows reclassification, and it may be impracticable to recreate the 
information. 

44      IAS 8 sets out the adjustments to comparative information required when an entity 
changes an accounting policy or corrects an error. 

Consistency of presentation 

45     An entity shall retain the presentation and classification of items in the financial 
statements from one period to the next unless: 

(a)     it is apparent, following a significant change in the nature of the entity's operations 
or a review of its financial statements, that another presentation or classification would be 
more appropriate having regard to the criteria for the selection and application of 
accounting policies in IAS 8; or 

(b)     an IFRS requires a change in presentation. 

46      For example, a significant acquisition or disposal, or a review of the presentation of 
the financial statements, might suggest that the financial statements need to be presented 
differently. An entity changes the presentation of its financial statements only if the 
changed presentation provides information that is reliable and more relevant to users of 
the financial statements and the revised structure is likely to continue, so that 
comparability is not impaired. When making such changes in presentation, an entity 
reclassifies its comparative information in accordance with paragraphs 41 and 42. 

Structure and content 

Introduction 

47      This Standard requires particular disclosures in the statement of financial position 
or the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, or in the statement 
of changes in equity and requires disclosure of other line items either in those statements 
or in the notes. IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows sets out requirements for the presentation 
of cash flow information. 

48      This Standard sometimes uses the term 'disclosure' in a broad sense, encompassing 
items presented in the financial statements. Disclosures are also required by other IFRSs. 
Unless specified to the contrary elsewhere in this Standard or in another IFRS, such 
disclosures may be made in the financial statements. 

Identification of the financial statements 

49     An entity shall clearly identify the financial statements and distinguish them from 
other information in the same published document. 

50      IFRSs apply only to financial statements, and not necessarily to other information 
presented in an annual report, a regulatory filing, or another document. Therefore, it is 



important that users can distinguish information that is prepared using IFRSs from other 
information that may be useful to users but is not the subject of those requirements. 

51     An entity shall clearly identify each financial statement and the notes. In addition, 
an entity shall display the following information prominently, and repeat it when 
necessary for the information presented to be understandable: 

(a)     the name of the reporting entity or other means of identification, and any change in 
that information from the end of the preceding reporting period; 

(b)     whether the financial statements are of an individual entity or a group of entities; 

(c)     the date of the end of the reporting period or the period covered by the set of 
financial statements or notes; 

(d)     the presentation currency, as defined in IAS 21; and 

(e)     the level of rounding used in presenting amounts in the financial statements. 

52      An entity meets the requirements in paragraph 51 by presenting appropriate 
headings for pages, statements, notes, columns and the like. Judgement is required in 
determining the best way of presenting such information. For example, when an entity 
presents the financial statements electronically, separate pages are not always used; an 
entity then presents the above items to ensure that the information included in the 
financial statements can be understood. 

53      An entity often makes financial statements more understandable by presenting 
information in thousands or millions of units of the presentation currency. This is 
acceptable as long as the entity discloses the level of rounding and does not omit material 
information. 

Statement of financial position 

Information to be presented in the statement of financial position 

54     The statement of financial position shall include line items that present the 
following amounts: 

(a)     property, plant and equipment; 

(b)     investment property; 

(c)     intangible assets; 

(d)     financial assets (excluding amounts shown under (e), (h) and (i)); 

(e)     investments accounted for using the equity method; 

(f)     biological assets within the scope of IAS 41 Agriculture; 



(g)     inventories; 

(h)     trade and other receivables; 

(i)     cash and cash equivalents; 

(j)     the total of assets classified as held for sale and assets included in disposal groups 
classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations; 

(k)     trade and other payables; 

(l)     provisions; 

(m) financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown under (k) and (l)); 

(n)     liabilities and assets for current tax, as defined in IAS 12 Income Taxes; 

(o)     deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets, as defined in IAS 12; 

(p)     liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale in accordance with 
IFRS 5; 

(q)     non-controlling interests, presented within equity; and 

(r)     issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent. 

55     An entity shall present additional line items (including by disaggregating the line 
items listed in paragraph 54), headings and subtotals in the statement of financial position 
when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity's financial position. 

55A     When an entity presents subtotals in accordance with paragraph 55, those 
subtotals shall: 

(a)     be comprised of line items made up of amounts recognised and measured in 
accordance with IFRS; 

(b)     be presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items that constitute the 
subtotal clear and understandable; 

(c)     be consistent from period to period, in accordance with paragraph 45; and 

(d)     not be displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and totals required in 
IFRS for the statement of financial position. 

56     When an entity presents current and non-current assets, and current and non-current 
liabilities, as separate classifications in its statement of financial position, it shall not 
classify deferred tax assets (liabilities) as current assets (liabilities). 



57      This Standard does not prescribe the order or format in which an entity presents 
items. Paragraph 54 simply lists items that are sufficiently different in nature or function 
to warrant separate presentation in the statement of financial position. In addition: 

(a)     line items are included when the size, nature or function of an item or aggregation 
of similar items is such that separate presentation is relevant to an understanding of the 
entity's financial position; and 

(b)     the descriptions used and the ordering of items or aggregation of similar items may 
be amended according to the nature of the entity and its transactions, to provide 
information that is relevant to an understanding of the entity's financial position. For 
example, a financial institution may amend the above descriptions to provide information 
that is relevant to the operations of a financial institution. 

58      An entity makes the judgement about whether to present additional items 
separately on the basis of an assessment of: 

(a)     the nature and liquidity of assets; 

(b)     the function of assets within the entity; and 

(c)     the amounts, nature and timing of liabilities. 

59      The use of different measurement bases for different classes of assets suggests that 
their nature or function differs and, therefore, that an entity presents them as separate line 
items. For example, different classes of property, plant and equipment can be carried at 
cost or at revalued amounts in accordance with IAS 16. 

Current / non-current distinction 

60     An entity shall present current and non-current assets, and current and non-current 
liabilities, as separate classifications in its statement of financial position in accordance 
with paragraphs 66–76 except when a presentation based on liquidity provides 
information that is reliable and more relevant. When that exception applies, an entity 
shall present all assets and liabilities in order of liquidity. 

61     Whichever method of presentation is adopted, an entity shall disclose the amount 
expected to be recovered or settled after more than twelve months for each asset and 
liability line item that combines amounts expected to be recovered or settled: 

(a)     no more than twelve months after the reporting period, and 

(b)     more than twelve months after the reporting period. 

62      When an entity supplies goods or services within a clearly identifiable operating 
cycle, separate classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position provides useful information by distinguishing the net 
assets that are continuously circulating as working capital from those used in the entity's 



long-term operations. It also highlights assets that are expected to be realised within the 
current operating cycle, and liabilities that are due for settlement within the same period. 

63      For some entities, such as financial institutions, a presentation of assets and 
liabilities in increasing or decreasing order of liquidity provides information that is 
reliable and more relevant than a current / non-current presentation because the entity 
does not supply goods or services within a clearly identifiable operating cycle. 

64      In applying paragraph 60, an entity is permitted to present some of its assets and 
liabilities using a current / non-current classification and others in order of liquidity when 
this provides information that is reliable and more relevant. The need for a mixed basis of 
presentation might arise when an entity has diverse operations. 

65      Information about expected dates of realisation of assets and liabilities is useful in 
assessing the liquidity and solvency of an entity. IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures requires disclosure of the maturity dates of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. Financial assets include trade and other receivables, and financial liabilities 
include trade and other payables. Information on the expected date of recovery of non-
monetary assets such as inventories and expected date of settlement for liabilities such as 
provisions is also useful, whether assets and liabilities are classified as current or as non-
current. For example, an entity discloses the amount of inventories that are expected to be 
recovered more than twelve months after the reporting period. 

Current assets 

66     An entity shall classify an asset as current when: 

(a)     it expects to realise the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal 
operating cycle; 

(b)     it holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading; 

(c)     it expects to realise the asset within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

(d)     the asset is cash or a cash equivalent (as defined in IAS 7) unless the asset is 
restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period. 

     An entity shall classify all other assets as non-current. 

67      This Standard uses the term 'non-current' to include tangible, intangible and 
financial assets of a long-term nature. It does not prohibit the use of alternative 
descriptions as long as the meaning is clear. 

68      The operating cycle of an entity is the time between the acquisition of assets for 
processing and their realisation in cash or cash equivalents. When the entity's normal 
operating cycle is not clearly identifiable, it is assumed to be twelve months. Current 
assets include assets (such as inventories and trade receivables) that are sold, consumed 



or realised as part of the normal operating cycle even when they are not expected to be 
realised within twelve months after the reporting period. Current assets also include 
assets held primarily for the purpose of trading (examples include some financial assets 
that meet the definition of held for trading in IFRS 9) and the current portion of non-
current financial assets. 

Current liabilities 

69     An entity shall classify a liability as current when: 

(a)     it expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle; 

(b)     it holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading; 

(c)     the liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

(d)     it does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period (see paragraph 73). Terms of a liability that 
could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity 
instruments do not affect its classification. 

     An entity shall classify all other liabilities as non-current. 

70      Some current liabilities, such as trade payables and some accruals for employee 
and other operating costs, are part of the working capital used in the entity's normal 
operating cycle. An entity classifies such operating items as current liabilities even if they 
are due to be settled more than twelve months after the reporting period. The same 
normal operating cycle applies to the classification of an entity's assets and liabilities. 
When the entity's normal operating cycle is not clearly identifiable, it is assumed to be 
twelve months. 

71      Other current liabilities are not settled as part of the normal operating cycle, but are 
due for settlement within twelve months after the reporting period or held primarily for 
the purpose of trading. Examples are some financial liabilities that meet the definition of 
held for trading in IFRS 9, bank overdrafts, and the current portion of non-current 
financial liabilities, dividends payable, income taxes and other non-trade payables. 
Financial liabilities that provide financing on a long-term basis (ie are not part of the 
working capital used in the entity's normal operating cycle) and are not due for settlement 
within twelve months after the reporting period are non-current liabilities, subject to 
paragraphs 74 and 75. 

72      An entity classifies its financial liabilities as current when they are due to be settled 
within twelve months after the reporting period, even if: 

(a)     the original term was for a period longer than twelve months, and 



(b)     an agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term basis is 
completed after the reporting period and before the financial statements are authorised for 
issue. 

73      If an entity expects, and has the discretion, to refinance or roll over an obligation 
for at least twelve months after the reporting period under an existing loan facility, it 
classifies the obligation as non-current, even if it would otherwise be due within a shorter 
period. However, when refinancing or rolling over the obligation is not at the discretion 
of the entity (for example, there is no arrangement for refinancing), the entity does not 
consider the potential to refinance the obligation and classifies the obligation as current. 

74      When an entity breaches a provision of a long-term loan arrangement on or before 
the end of the reporting period with the effect that the liability becomes payable on 
demand, it classifies the liability as current, even if the lender agreed, after the reporting 
period and before the authorisation of the financial statements for issue, not to demand 
payment as a consequence of the breach. An entity classifies the liability as current 
because, at the end of the reporting period, it does not have an unconditional right to 
defer its settlement for at least twelve months after that date. 

75      However, an entity classifies the liability as non-current if the lender agreed by the 
end of the reporting period to provide a period of grace ending at least twelve months 
after the reporting period, within which the entity can rectify the breach and during which 
the lender cannot demand immediate repayment. 

76      In respect of loans classified as current liabilities, if the following events occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date the financial statements are 
authorised for issue, those events are disclosed as non-adjusting events in accordance 
with IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period: 

(a)     refinancing on a long-term basis; 

(b)     rectification of a breach of a long-term loan arrangement; and 

(c)     the granting by the lender of a period of grace to rectify a breach of a long-term 
loan arrangement ending at least twelve months after the reporting period. 

Information to be presented either in the statement of financial position or in the notes 

77     An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes, 
further subclassifications of the line items presented, classified in a manner appropriate to 
the entity's operations. 

78      The detail provided in subclassifications depends on the requirements of IFRSs and 
on the size, nature and function of the amounts involved. An entity also uses the factors 
set out in paragraph 58 to decide the basis of subclassification. The disclosures vary for 
each item, for example: 



(a)     items of property, plant and equipment are disaggregated into classes in accordance 
with IAS 16; 

(b)     receivables are disaggregated into amounts receivable from trade customers, 
receivables from related parties, prepayments and other amounts; 

(c)     inventories are disaggregated, in accordance with IAS 2 Inventories, into 
classifications such as merchandise, production supplies, materials, work in progress and 
finished goods; 

(d)     provisions are disaggregated into provisions for employee benefits and other items; 
and 

(e)     equity capital and reserves are disaggregated into various classes, such as paid-in 
capital, share premium and reserves. 

79     An entity shall disclose the following, either in the statement of financial position or 
the statement of changes in equity, or in the notes: 

(a)     for each class of share capital: 

(i)     the number of shares authorised; 

(ii)     the number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid; 

(iii) par value per share, or that the shares have no par value; 

(iv) a reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end 
of the period; 

(v)     the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to that class including restrictions 
on the distribution of dividends and the repayment of capital; 

(vi) shares in the entity held by the entity or by its subsidiaries or associates; and 

(vii) shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for the sale of shares, including 
terms and amounts; and 

(b)     a description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity. 

80     An entity without share capital, such as a partnership or trust, shall disclose 
information equivalent to that required by paragraph 79(a), showing changes during the 
period in each category of equity interest, and the rights, preferences and restrictions 
attaching to each category of equity interest. 

80A     If an entity has reclassified 

(a)     a puttable financial instrument classified as an equity instrument, or 



(b)     an instrument that imposes on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a 
pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation and is classified as an 
equity instrument 

     between financial liabilities and equity, it shall disclose the amount reclassified into 
and out of each category (financial liabilities or equity), and the timing and reason for 
that reclassification. 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

81     [Deleted] 

81A     The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (statement of 
comprehensive income) shall present, in addition to the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income sections: 

(a)     profit or loss; 

(b)     total other comprehensive income; 

(c)     comprehensive income for the period, being the total of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 

     If an entity presents a separate statement of profit or loss it does not present the profit 
or loss section in the statement presenting comprehensive income. 

81B     An entity shall present the following items, in addition to the profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income sections, as allocation of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income for the period: 

(a)     profit or loss for the period attributable to: 

(i)     non-controlling interests, and 

(ii)     owners of the parent. 

(b)     comprehensive income for the period attributable to: 

(i)     non-controlling interests, and 

(ii)     owners of the parent. 

     If an entity presents profit or loss in a separate statement it shall present (a) in that 
statement. 

Information to be presented in the profit or loss section or the statement of profit or loss 



82     In addition to items required by other IFRSs, the profit or loss section or the 
statement of profit or loss shall include line items that present the following amounts for 
the period: 

(a)     revenue, presenting separately interest revenue calculated using the effective 
interest method; 

(aa) gains and losses arising from the derecognition of financial assets measured at 
amortised cost; 

(b)     finance costs; 

(ba) impairment losses (including reversals of impairment losses or impairment gains) 
determined in accordance with Section 5.5 of IFRS 9; 

(c)     share of the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the 
equity method; 

(ca) if a financial asset is reclassified out of the amortised cost measurement category so 
that it is measured at fair value through profit or loss, any gain or loss arising from a 
difference between the previous amortised cost of the financial asset and its fair value at 
the reclassification date (as defined in IFRS 9); 

(cb) if a financial asset is reclassified out of the fair value through other comprehensive 
income measurement category so that it is measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income that is 
reclassified to profit or loss; 

(d)     tax expense; 

(e)     [deleted] 

(ea) a single amount for the total of discontinued operations (see IFRS 5). 

(f–i) [deleted] 

Information to be presented in the other comprehensive income section 

82A     The other comprehensive income section shall present line items for the amounts 
for the period of: 

(a)     items of other comprehensive income (excluding amounts in paragraph (b)), 
classified by nature and grouped into those that, in accordance with other IFRSs: 

(i) will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and 

(ii) will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. 



(b)     the share of the other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method, separated into the share of items that, in 
accordance with other IFRSs: 

(i)     will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and 

(ii)     will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. 

83–84     [Deleted] 

85     An entity shall present additional line items (including by disaggregating the line 
items listed in paragraph 82), headings and subtotals in the statement(s) presenting profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income when such presentation is relevant to an 
understanding of the entity's financial performance. 

85A     When an entity presents subtotals in accordance with paragraph 85, those 
subtotals shall: 

(a)     be comprised of line items made up of amounts recognised and measured in 
accordance with IFRS; 

(b)     be presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items that constitute the 
subtotal clear and understandable; 

(c)     be consistent from period to period, in accordance with paragraph 45; and 

(d)     not be displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and totals required in 
IFRS for the statement(s) presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

85B     An entity shall present the line items in the statement(s) presenting profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income that reconcile any subtotals presented in accordance 
with paragraph 85 with the subtotals or totals required in IFRS for such statement(s). 

86      Because the effects of an entity's various activities, transactions and other events 
differ in frequency, potential for gain or loss and predictability, disclosing the 
components of financial performance assists users in understanding the financial 
performance achieved and in making projections of future financial performance. An 
entity includes additional line items in the statement(s) presenting profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and it amends the descriptions used and the ordering of items 
when this is necessary to explain the elements of financial performance. An entity 
considers factors including materiality and the nature and function of the items of income 
and expense. For example, a financial institution may amend the descriptions to provide 
information that is relevant to the operations of a financial institution. An entity does not 
offset income and expense items unless the criteria in paragraph 32 are met. 

87     An entity shall not present any items of income or expense as extraordinary items, 
in the statement(s) presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the 
notes. 



Profit or loss for the period 

88     An entity shall recognise all items of income and expense in a period in profit or 
loss unless an IFRS requires or permits otherwise. 

89      Some IFRSs specify circumstances when an entity recognises particular items 
outside profit or loss in the current period. IAS 8 specifies two such circumstances: the 
correction of errors and the effect of changes in accounting policies. Other IFRSs require 
or permit components of other comprehensive income that meet the Conceptual 
Framework's definition of income or expense to be excluded from profit or loss (see 
paragraph 7). 

Other comprehensive income for the period 

90     An entity shall disclose the amount of income tax relating to each item of other 
comprehensive income, including reclassification adjustments, either in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes. 

91      An entity may present items of other comprehensive income either: 

(a)     net of related tax effects, or 

(b)     before related tax effects with one amount shown for the aggregate amount of 
income tax relating to those items. 

If an entity elects alternative (b), it shall allocate the tax between the items that might be 
reclassified subsequently to the profit or loss section and those that will not be 
reclassified subsequently to the profit or loss section. 

92     An entity shall disclose reclassification adjustments relating to components of other 
comprehensive income. 

93      Other IFRSs specify whether and when amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. Such reclassifications are referred 
to in this Standard as reclassification adjustments. A reclassification adjustment is 
included with the related component of other comprehensive income in the period that 
the adjustment is reclassified to profit or loss. These amounts may have been recognised 
in other comprehensive income as unrealised gains in the current or previous periods. 
Those unrealised gains must be deducted from other comprehensive income in the period 
in which the realised gains are reclassified to profit or loss to avoid including them in 
total comprehensive income twice. 

94      An entity may present reclassification adjustments in the statement(s) of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes. An entity presenting reclassification 
adjustments in the notes presents the items of other comprehensive income after any 
related reclassification adjustments. 



95      Reclassification adjustments arise, for example, on disposal of a foreign operation 
(see IAS 21) and when some hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss (see 
paragraph 6.5.11(d) of IFRS 9 in relation to cash flow hedges). 

96      Reclassification adjustments do not arise on changes in revaluation surplus 
recognised in accordance with IAS 16 or IAS 38 or on remeasurements of defined benefit 
plans recognised in accordance with IAS 19. These components are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 
Changes in revaluation surplus may be transferred to retained earnings in subsequent 
periods as the asset is used or when it is derecognised (see IAS 16 and IAS 38). In 
accordance with IFRS 9, reclassification adjustments do not arise if a cash flow hedge or 
the accounting for the time value of an option (or the forward element of a forward 
contract or the foreign currency basis spread of a financial instrument) result in amounts 
that are removed from the cash flow hedge reserve or a separate component of equity, 
respectively, and included directly in the initial cost or other carrying amount of an asset 
or a liability. These amounts are directly transferred to assets or liabilities. 

Information to be presented in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income or in the notes 

97     When items of income or expense are material, an entity shall disclose their nature 
and amount separately. 

98      Circumstances that would give rise to the separate disclosure of items of income 
and expense include: 

(a)     write-downs of inventories to net realisable value or of property, plant and 
equipment to recoverable amount, as well as reversals of such write-downs; 

(b)     restructurings of the activities of an entity and reversals of any provisions for the 
costs of restructuring; 

(c)     disposals of items of property, plant and equipment; 

(d)     disposals of investments; 

(e)     discontinued operations; 

(f)     litigation settlements; and 

(g)     other reversals of provisions. 

99     An entity shall present an analysis of expenses recognised in profit or loss using a 
classification based on either their nature or their function within the entity, whichever 
provides information that is reliable and more relevant. 

100     Entities are encouraged to present the analysis in paragraph 99 in the statement(s) 
presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 



101     Expenses are subclassified to highlight components of financial performance that 
may differ in terms of frequency, potential for gain or loss and predictability. This 
analysis is provided in one of two forms. 

102     The first form of analysis is the 'nature of expense' method. An entity aggregates 
expenses within profit or loss according to their nature (for example, depreciation, 
purchases of materials, transport costs, employee benefits and advertising costs), and 
does not reallocate them among functions within the entity. This method may be simple 
to apply because no allocations of expenses to functional classifications are necessary. 
An example of a classification using the nature of expense method is as follows: 

Revenue   X 

Other income   X 

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress X   

Raw materials and consumables used X   

Employee benefits expense X   

Depreciation and amortisation expense X   

Other expenses X   

Total expenses   (X) 

Profit before tax   X 

103     The second form of analysis is the 'function of expense' or 'cost of sales' method 
and classifies expenses according to their function as part of cost of sales or, for example, 
the costs of distribution or administrative activities. At a minimum, an entity discloses its 
cost of sales under this method separately from other expenses. This method can provide 
more relevant information to users than the classification of expenses by nature, but 
allocating costs to functions may require arbitrary allocations and involve considerable 
judgement. An example of a classification using the function of expense method is as 
follows: 

Revenue X   

Cost of sales (X)   

Gross profit X   

Other income X   

Distribution costs (X)   

Administrative expenses (X)   

Other expenses (X)   

Profit before tax X   



104     An entity classifying expenses by function shall disclose additional information on 
the nature of expenses, including depreciation and amortisation expense and employee 
benefits expense. 

105     The choice between the function of expense method and the nature of expense 
method depends on historical and industry factors and the nature of the entity. Both 
methods provide an indication of those costs that might vary, directly or indirectly, with 
the level of sales or production of the entity. Because each method of presentation has 
merit for different types of entities, this Standard requires management to select the 
presentation that is reliable and more relevant. However, because information on the 
nature of expenses is useful in predicting future cash flows, additional disclosure is 
required when the function of expense classification is used. In paragraph 104, 'employee 
benefits' has the same meaning as in IAS 19. 

Statement of changes in equity 

Information to be presented in the statement of changes in equity 

106     An entity shall present a statement of changes in equity as required by paragraph 
10. The statement of changes in equity includes the following information: 

(a)     total comprehensive income for the period, showing separately the total amounts 
attributable to owners of the parent and to non-controlling interests; 

(b)     for each component of equity, the effects of retrospective application or 
retrospective restatement recognised in accordance with IAS 8; and 

(c)     [deleted] 

(d)     for each component of equity, a reconciliation between the carrying amount at the 
beginning and the end of the period, separately (as a minimum) disclosing changes 
resulting from: 

(i)     profit or loss; 

(ii)     other comprehensive income; and 

(iii) transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, showing separately 
contributions by and distributions to owners and changes in ownership interests in 
subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control. 

Information to be presented in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes 

106A     For each component of equity an entity shall present, either in the statement of 
changes in equity or in the notes, an analysis of other comprehensive income by item (see 
paragraph 106(d)(ii)). 



107     An entity shall present, either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes, 
the amounts of dividends recognised as distributions to owners during the period, and the 
related amount of dividends per share. 

108     In paragraph 106, the components of equity include, for example, each class of 
contributed equity, the accumulated balance of each class of other comprehensive income 
and retained earnings. 

109     Changes in an entity's equity between the beginning and the end of the reporting 
period reflect the increase or decrease in its net assets during the period. Except for 
changes resulting from transactions with owners in their capacity as owners (such as 
equity contributions, reacquisitions of the entity's own equity instruments and dividends) 
and transaction costs directly related to such transactions, the overall change in equity 
during a period represents the total amount of income and expense, including gains and 
losses, generated by the entity's activities during that period. 

110     IAS 8 requires retrospective adjustments to effect changes in accounting policies, 
to the extent practicable, except when the transition provisions in another IFRS require 
otherwise. IAS 8 also requires restatements to correct errors to be made retrospectively, 
to the extent practicable. Retrospective adjustments and retrospective restatements are not 
changes in equity but they are adjustments to the opening balance of retained earnings, 
except when an IFRS requires retrospective adjustment of another component of equity. 
Paragraph 106(b) requires disclosure in the statement of changes in equity of the total 
adjustment to each component of equity resulting from changes in accounting policies 
and, separately, from corrections of errors. These adjustments are disclosed for each prior 
period and the beginning of the period. 

Statement of cash flows 

111     Cash flow information provides users of financial statements with a basis to assess 
the ability of the entity to generate cash and cash equivalents and the needs of the entity 
to utilise those cash flows. IAS 7 sets out requirements for the presentation and disclosure 
of cash flow information. 

Notes 

Structure 

112     The notes shall: 

(a)     present information about the basis of preparation of the financial statements and 
the specific accounting policies used in accordance with paragraphs 117–124; 

(b)     disclose the information required by IFRSs that is not presented elsewhere in the 
financial statements; and 

(c)     provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the financial statements, but 
is relevant to an understanding of any of them. 



113     An entity shall, as far as practicable, present notes in a systematic manner. In 
determining a systematic manner, the entity shall consider the effect on the 
understandability and comparability of its financial statements. An entity shall cross-
reference each item in the statements of financial position and in the statement(s) of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, and in the statements of changes in equity and 
of cash flows to any related information in the notes. 

114     Examples of systematic ordering or grouping of the notes include: 

(a)     giving prominence to the areas of its activities that the entity considers to be most 
relevant to an understanding of its financial performance and financial position, such as 
grouping together information about particular operating activities; 

(b)     grouping together information about items measured similarly such as assets 
measured at fair value; or 

(c)     following the order of the line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and the statement of financial position, such as: 

(i)     statement of compliance with IFRSs (see paragraph 16); 

(ii)    significant accounting policies applied (see paragraph 117); 

(iii)   supporting information for items presented in the statements of financial position 
and in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and in the 
statements of changes in equity and of cash flows, in the order in which each statement 
and each line item is presented; and 

(iv)    other disclosures, including: 

(1)     contingent liabilities (see IAS 37) and unrecognised contractual commitments; and 

(2)     non-financial disclosures, eg the entity's financial risk management objectives and 
policies (see IFRS 7). 

115     [Deleted] 

116     An entity may present notes providing information about the basis of preparation 
of the financial statements and specific accounting policies as a separate section of the 
financial statements. 

Disclosure of accounting policies 

117     An entity shall disclose its significant accounting policies comprising: 

(a)     the measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial statements; and 

(b)     the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of the 
financial statements. 



118     It is important for an entity to inform users of the measurement basis or bases used 
in the financial statements (for example, historical cost, current cost, net realisable value, 
fair value or recoverable amount) because the basis on which an entity prepares the 
financial statements significantly affects users' analysis. When an entity uses more than 
one measurement basis in the financial statements, for example when particular classes of 
assets are revalued, it is sufficient to provide an indication of the categories of assets and 
liabilities to which each measurement basis is applied. 

119     In deciding whether a particular accounting policy should be disclosed, 
management considers whether disclosure would assist users in understanding how 
transactions, other events and conditions are reflected in reported financial performance 
and financial position. Each entity considers the nature of its operations and the policies 
that the users of its financial statements would expect to be disclosed for that type of 
entity. Disclosure of particular accounting policies is especially useful to users when 
those policies are selected from alternatives allowed in IFRSs. An example is disclosure 
of whether an entity applies the fair value or cost model to its investment property (see 
IAS 40 Investment Property). Some IFRSs specifically require disclosure of particular 
accounting policies, including choices made by management between different policies 
they allow. For example, IAS 16 requires disclosure of the measurement bases used for 
classes of property, plant and equipment. 

120     [Deleted] 

121     An accounting policy may be significant because of the nature of the entity's 
operations even if amounts for current and prior periods are not material. It is also 
appropriate to disclose each significant accounting policy that is not specifically required 
by IFRSs but the entity selects and applies in accordance with IAS 8. 

122     An entity shall disclose, along with its significant accounting policies or other 
notes, the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see paragraph 125), that 
management has made in the process of applying the entity's accounting policies and that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

123     In the process of applying the entity's accounting policies, management makes 
various judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that can significantly affect 
the amounts it recognises in the financial statements. For example, management makes 
judgements in determining: 

(a)     [deleted] 

(b)     when substantially all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of financial 
assets and, for lessors, assets subject to leases are transferred to other entities; and 

(c)     whether, in substance, particular sales of goods are financing arrangements and 
therefore do not give rise to revenue; and 



(d)     whether the contractual terms of a financial asset give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

124     Some of the disclosures made in accordance with paragraph 122 are required by 
other IFRSs. For example, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities requires an 
entity to disclose the judgements it has made in determining whether it controls another 
entity. IAS 40 Investment Property requires disclosure of the criteria developed by the 
entity to distinguish investment property from owner-occupied property and from 
property held for sale in the ordinary course of business, when classification of the 
property is difficult. 

Sources of estimation uncertainty 

125     An entity shall disclose information about the assumptions it makes about the 
future, and other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. In respect of those assets 
and liabilities, the notes shall include details of: 

(a)     their nature, and 

(b)     their carrying amount as at the end of the reporting period. 

126     Determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities requires 
estimation of the effects of uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at the 
end of the reporting period. For example, in the absence of recently observed market 
prices, future-oriented estimates are necessary to measure the recoverable amount of 
classes of property, plant and equipment, the effect of technological obsolescence on 
inventories, provisions subject to the future outcome of litigation in progress, and long-
term employee benefit liabilities such as pension obligations. These estimates involve 
assumptions about such items as the risk adjustment to cash flows or discount rates, 
future changes in salaries and future changes in prices affecting other costs. 

127     The assumptions and other sources of estimation uncertainty disclosed in 
accordance with paragraph 125 relate to the estimates that require management's most 
difficult, subjective or complex judgements. As the number of variables and assumptions 
affecting the possible future resolution of the uncertainties increases, those judgements 
become more subjective and complex, and the potential for a consequential material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities normally increases 
accordingly. 

128     The disclosures in paragraph 125 are not required for assets and liabilities with a 
significant risk that their carrying amounts might change materially within the next 
financial year if, at the end of the reporting period, they are measured at fair value based 
on a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability. Such fair values 
might change materially within the next financial year but these changes would not arise 



from assumptions or other sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period. 

129     An entity presents the disclosures in paragraph 125 in a manner that helps users of 
financial statements to understand the judgements that management makes about the 
future and about other sources of estimation uncertainty. The nature and extent of the 
information provided vary according to the nature of the assumption and other 
circumstances. Examples of the types of disclosures an entity makes are: 

(a)     the nature of the assumption or other estimation uncertainty; 

(b)     the sensitivity of carrying amounts to the methods, assumptions and estimates 
underlying their calculation, including the reasons for the sensitivity; 

(c)     the expected resolution of an uncertainty and the range of reasonably possible 
outcomes within the next financial year in respect of the carrying amounts of the assets 
and liabilities affected; and 

(d)     an explanation of changes made to past assumptions concerning those assets and 
liabilities, if the uncertainty remains unresolved. 

130     This Standard does not require an entity to disclose budget information or 
forecasts in making the disclosures in paragraph 125. 

131     Sometimes it is impracticable to disclose the extent of the possible effects of an 
assumption or another source of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period. 
In such cases, the entity discloses that it is reasonably possible, on the basis of existing 
knowledge, that outcomes within the next financial year that are different from the 
assumption could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or 
liability affected. In all cases, the entity discloses the nature and carrying amount of the 
specific asset or liability (or class of assets or liabilities) affected by the assumption. 

132     The disclosures in paragraph 122 of particular judgements that management made 
in the process of applying the entity's accounting policies do not relate to the disclosures 
of sources of estimation uncertainty in paragraph 125. 

133     Other IFRSs require the disclosure of some of the assumptions that would 
otherwise be required in accordance with paragraph 125. For example, IAS 37 requires 
disclosure, in specified circumstances, of major assumptions concerning future events 
affecting classes of provisions. IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement requires disclosure of 
significant assumptions (including the valuation technique(s) and inputs) the entity uses 
when measuring the fair values of assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value. 

Capital 

134     An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to 
evaluate the entity's objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. 



135     To comply with paragraph 134, the entity discloses the following: 

(a)     qualitative information about its objectives, policies and processes for managing 
capital, including: 

(i)     a description of what it manages as capital; 

(ii)    when an entity is subject to externally imposed capital requirements, the nature of 
those requirements and how those requirements are incorporated into the management of 
capital; and 

(iii)   how it is meeting its objectives for managing capital. 

(b)     summary quantitative data about what it manages as capital. Some entities regard 
some financial liabilities (eg some forms of subordinated debt) as part of capital. Other 
entities regard capital as excluding some components of equity (eg components arising 
from cash flow hedges). 

(c)     any changes in (a) and (b) from the previous period. 

(d)     whether during the period it complied with any externally imposed capital 
requirements to which it is subject. 

(e)     when the entity has not complied with such externally imposed capital 
requirements, the consequences of such non-compliance. 

The entity bases these disclosures on the information provided internally to key 
management personnel. 

136     An entity may manage capital in a number of ways and be subject to a number of 
different capital requirements. For example, a conglomerate may include entities that 
undertake insurance activities and banking activities and those entities may operate in 
several jurisdictions. When an aggregate disclosure of capital requirements and how 
capital is managed would not provide useful information or distorts a financial statement 
user's understanding of an entity's capital resources, the entity shall disclose separate 
information for each capital requirement to which the entity is subject. 

Puttable financial instruments classified as equity 

136A     For puttable financial instruments classified as equity instruments, an entity shall 
disclose (to the extent not disclosed elsewhere): 

(a)     summary quantitative data about the amount classified as equity; 

(b)     its objectives, policies and processes for managing its obligation to repurchase or 
redeem the instruments when required to do so by the instrument holders, including any 
changes from the previous period; 



(c)     the expected cash outflow on redemption or repurchase of that class of financial 
instruments; and 

(d)     information about how the expected cash outflow on redemption or repurchase was 
determined. 

Other disclosures 

137     An entity shall disclose in the notes: 

(a)     the amount of dividends proposed or declared before the financial statements were 
authorised for issue but not recognised as a distribution to owners during the period, and 
the related amount per share; and 

(b)     the amount of any cumulative preference dividends not recognised. 

138     An entity shall disclose the following, if not disclosed elsewhere in information 
published with the financial statements: 

(a)     the domicile and legal form of the entity, its country of incorporation and the 
address of its registered office (or principal place of business, if different from the 
registered office); 

(b)     a description of the nature of the entity's operations and its principal activities; 

(c)     the name of the parent and the ultimate parent of the group; and 

(d)     if it is a limited life entity, information regarding the length of its life. 

Transition and effective date 

139     An entity shall apply this Standard for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2009. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity adopts this Standard for an 
earlier period, it shall disclose that fact. 

139A     IAS 27 (as amended in 2008) amended paragraph 106. An entity shall apply that 
amendment for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. If an entity applies 
IAS 27 (amended 2008) for an earlier period, the amendment shall be applied for that 
earlier period. The amendment shall be applied retrospectively. 

139B     Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 
(Amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1), issued in February 2008, amended paragraph 138 
and inserted paragraphs 8A, 80A and 136A. An entity shall apply those amendments for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Earlier application is permitted. If 
an entity applies the amendments for an earlier period, it shall disclose that fact and apply 
the related amendments to IAS 32, IAS 39, IFRS 7 and IFRIC 2 Members' Shares in Co-
operative Entities and Similar Instruments at the same time. 



139C     Paragraphs 68 and 71 were amended by Improvements to IFRSs issued in 
May 2008. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies the amendments 
for an earlier period it shall disclose that fact. 

139D     Paragraph 69 was amended by Improvements to IFRSs issued in April 2009. An 
entity shall apply that amendment for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2010. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies the amendment for an earlier 
period it shall disclose that fact. 

139E     [Deleted] 

139F     Paragraphs 106 and 107 were amended and paragraph 106A was added by 
Improvements to IFRSs issued in May 2010. An entity shall apply those amendments for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. Earlier application is permitted. 

139G      [Deleted] 

139H      IFRS 10 and IFRS 12, issued in May 2011, amended paragraphs 4, 119, 123 
and 124. An entity shall apply those amendments when it applies IFRS 10 and IFRS 12. 

139I      IFRS 13, issued in May 2011, amended paragraphs 128 and 133. An entity shall 
apply those amendments when it applies IFRS 13. 

139J      Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (Amendments to IAS 1), 
issued in June 2011, amended paragraphs 7, 10, 82, 85–87, 90, 91, 94, 100 and 115, 
added paragraphs 10A, 81A, 81B and 82A, and deleted paragraphs 12, 81, 83 and 84. An 
entity shall apply those amendments for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. 
Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies the amendments for an earlier period 
it shall disclose that fact. 

139K      IAS 19 Employee Benefits (as amended in June 2011) amended the definition of 
'other comprehensive income' in paragraph 7 and paragraph 96. An entity shall apply 
those amendments when it applies IAS 19 (as amended in June 2011). 

139L     Annual Improvements 2009–2011 Cycle, issued in May 2012, amended 
paragraphs 10, 38 and 41, deleted paragraphs 39–40 and added paragraphs 38A–38D 
and 40A–40D. An entity shall apply that amendment retrospectively in accordance with 
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity 
applies that amendment for an earlier period it shall disclose that fact. 

139M     [Deleted] 

139N     IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, issued in May 2014, amended 
paragraph 34. An entity shall apply that amendment when it applies IFRS 15. 



139O     IFRS 9, as issued in July 2014, amended paragraphs 7, 68, 71, 82, 93, 95, 96, 
106 and 123 and deleted paragraphs 139E, 139G and 139M. An entity shall apply those 
amendments when it applies IFRS 9. 

139P     Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1), issued in December 2014, 
amended paragraphs 10, 31, 54–55, 82A, 85, 113–114, 117, 119 and 122, added 
paragraphs 30A, 55A and 85A–85B and deleted paragraphs 115 and 120. An entity shall 
apply those amendments for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Earlier 
application is permitted. Entities are not required to disclose the information required by 
paragraphs 28–30 of IAS 8 in relation to these amendments. 

139Q     IFRS 16 Leases, issued in January 2016, amended paragraph 123. An entity shall 
apply that amendment when it applies IFRS 16. 

139R     [used in future updates] 

139S     Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards, 
issued in 2018, amended paragraphs 7, 15, 19–20, 23–24, 28 and 89. An entity shall 
apply those amendments for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Earlier 
application is permitted if at the same time an entity also applies all other amendments 
made by Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards. 
An entity shall apply the amendments to IAS 1 retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. However, if an entity 
determines that retrospective application would be impracticable or would involve undue 
cost or effort, it shall apply the amendments to IAS 1 by reference to paragraphs 23–28, 
50–53 and 54F of IAS 8. 

139T     Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8), issued in October 
2018, amended paragraph 7 of IAS 1 and paragraph 5 of IAS 8, and deleted paragraph 6 
of IAS 8. An entity shall apply those amendments prospectively for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies 
those amendments for an earlier period, it shall disclose that fact. 

Withdrawal of IAS 1 (revised 2003) 

140     This Standard supersedes IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements revised 
in 2003, as amended in 2005. 

 

 

Footnotes 
1. Definition of IFRSs amended after the name changes introduced by the revised 
Constitution of the IFRS Foundation in 2010. 
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